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The Honourable Gabrielle Upton MP  
Minister for the Environment  
52 Martin Place  
Sydney NSW 2000 

Dear Minister 

It is with pleasure that I present to you the 2017–18 annual report for the NSW Environmental Trust. The 
report has been prepared in accordance with the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and the Annual Reports 
(Statutory Bodies) Act 1984 for your presentation to the NSW Parliament. 

In 2017–18, the Trust provided more than $52 million for the delivery of environmental projects by a broad 
range of NSW community groups, research facilities, Aboriginal organisations, schools and government 
agencies. 

The Trust awarded more than $39 million through its contestable grant programs. Funded projects will 
rehabilitate natural habitats, reduce waste, produce innovative research solutions and enhance environmental 
education and community engagement.

The acquisition of land for conservation continues with 11 new properties purchased for addition to the 
national parks estate this year. The Trust has significantly increased funding to the Land Acquisition Program, 
with a total funding allocation of around $51 million over five years for the conservation of land including koala 
habitat. 

The Trust is continuing to tackle waste in New South Wales with Waste Less, Recycle More (WLRM), 
Australia’s largest waste and recycling funding program. 2017–18 was the first year of funding under a  
$61.5 million extension for WLRM grants, which is helping a wide range of organisations to tackle household 
and food waste, research innovative solutions and build major recycling infrastructure.

The Trust’s large-scale restoration programs are continuing to demonstrate the value of long-term investment 
in rehabilitation. So far, Bush Connect grantees have collectively created 1237 hectares of new vegetation 
corridors, improving habitat and connectivity for native animals in the Great Eastern Ranges. Now in its sixth 
year, the Community Bush Regeneration Program has helped to regenerate over 7000 hectares of native 
vegetation across terrestrial, riparian and wetland communities.

Yours sincerely

Anthony Lean 
Secretary, NSW Environmental Trust  
October 2018

Environmental
Trust
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About the NSW Environmental Trust

Functions of the Trust 
The NSW Environmental Trust (the Trust) is an independent 
statutory body that supports projects which enhance 
the environment of New South Wales. The Trust was 
established under the Environmental Trust Act 1998 and 
administers grants across a diverse range of programs, 
including contestable grants, major projects, and various 
NSW Government initiatives. The Trust is administered by 
the Office of Environment and Heritage (OEH). 

The Trust is chaired by the NSW Minister for the 
Environment, with members including the Chief Executive 
of OEH and representatives from local government, the 
Nature Conservation Council of NSW and NSW Treasury. 
The appendices of this report contain further information on 
the administration of the Trust. 

The objectives of the Trust are to: 

1. encourage and support restoration and rehabilitation 
projects in both the public and private sectors that will, 
or are likely to, prevent or reduce pollution, the waste 
stream or environmental degradation, of any kind, 
within any part of New South Wales 

2. promote research in both the public and private sectors 
into environmental problems of any kind and, in 
particular, to encourage and support: 

 y research into and development of local solutions to 
environmental problems 

 y discovery of new methods of operation for NSW 
industries that are less harmful to the environment 

 y research into general environmental problems 

 y assessment of environmental degradation

3. promote environmental education and, in particular, 
encourage the development of educational programs 
in both the public and private sectors that will increase 
public awareness of environmental issues of any kind 

4. fund the acquisition of land for national parks and other 
categories of dedicated and reserved land for the 
national parks estate 

5. fund the declaration of areas for marine parks and 
related purposes

6. promote waste avoidance, resource recovery and 
waste management (including funding enforcement 
and regulation, and local government programs) 

7. fund environmental community groups 

8. fund the purchase of water entitlements for the 
purposes of increasing environmental flows for the 
State’s rivers, and restoring or rehabilitating major 
wetlands. 

Trust staff are employed within the Grants Branch of the 
Strategy and Performance Division of OEH. For issues 
of compliance (such as disability inclusion action plans, 
workforce diversity, multicultural policies and services, work 
health and safety etc.) refer to the Office of Environment 
and Heritage Annual Report 2017–18. 



2   NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2017–18

In 2017–18, the Trust spent over $52 million on the delivery 
of environmental projects. These projects were delivered 
by community groups, research facilities, Aboriginal 
organisations, schools, industry, and State and local 
government agencies.

Acquiring land for conservation
This year the Trust increased funding to the Land Acquisition 
Program by $19.88 million over four years, split evenly 
between the general and koala habitat acquisition programs. 
The Trust also approved an additional four years of program 
funding of over $20 million. Combined with Land Acquisition 
Program monies already approved by the Trust, this takes 
the Program’s allocation to around $51 million over five 
years. 

This year 11 new properties covering more than 4826 
hectares were acquired, which is more than double the 
amount acquired last year. All adjoin existing national parks, 
improving land management and connectivity in these 
reserves. 

Of the more than $7 million of strategic high conservation 
value land purchases made this year, the acquisition of 
440.3 hectares linking three sections of Koukandowie 
Nature Reserve is of special importance. Located west of 
Grafton, the reserve sits within or adjacent to six regional 
habitat corridors and lies within the highly significant 
Kangaroo Sandstone Belt, a land system that is ecologically 
diverse and rich in plant and animal life unique to the 
locality. It contains four main vegetation communities, 
two of which are under-represented in the national park 
system, and the variety of landform features such as 
sandstone rock faces and gullies support a range of 
threatened fauna species. Koukandowie Nature Reserve 
and surrounds are linked to Aboriginal cultural pathways 
from the Northern Tablelands to the Clarence River. Fire 
is the primary management issue for the reserve, and its 
acquisition means that appropriate hazard reduction can 
be implemented to better protect assets and improve 
biodiversity and Aboriginal heritage management. 

Protecting threatened species 
The Trust has approved $5 million over 11 years to improve 
and restore flying-fox roost habitat and support foraging 
habitat. The project will allow councils and land managers 
to implement long-term management actions at flying-fox 
camps to reduce conflict between communities and flying-
fox colonies and minimise stress to flying-foxes.

Administered by Local Government NSW, Phase 1 involves 
rigorous research and design to test whether restoring 
and creating suitable habitat away from the urban interface 
will encourage flying-foxes to preferentially use these 
sites. Depending on the outcomes of Phase 1, Phase 2 
will consist of a 10-year devolved grant program to create 
new roost sites and support foraging habitat in low-conflict 
locations, and enhance existing habitat in lower conflict 
locations. 

Special Bush Connect supplementary grants of $50,000 to 
$100,000 were offered this year, featuring supplementary 
funding for existing grantees to extend their projects. The 
Trust received 10 applications requesting a total of $919,266 
from the available $500,000 budget. Six supplementary 
grants were awarded, totalling $567,514. These are 
expected to result in an additional 2637 hectares of wildlife 
corridors and an additional 171 hectares weeded. 

Protecting Aboriginal land and culture
The first round of grants under the Trust’s new Protecting 
our Places funding model occurred this year, providing 
grants of up to $65,000 for projects that protect culturally 
significant land and support education about the 
environment and its importance in Aboriginal life. Increasing 
available grant funding from $35,000, this round was 
the first since 2014 and resulted in 12 projects valued at 
$707,471 approved this year. An online webinar and nine 
information sessions were held across the State to support 
applicants to the revised program, which now offers 
projects separated into two stages over three years. 

Promoting waste avoidance and 
sustainability
This year was the first year of funding under the $61.5 
million extension for Waste Less, Recycle More (WLRM) 
grants awarded by the Trust. This funding, along with the 
NSW Environment Protection Authority (EPA) allocation of 
$275.5 million, amounts to an additional $337 million until 
2020–21. Total funding for the WLRM initiative now comes 
to around $802 million for the period 2013–21, making it 
Australia’s largest waste and recycling funding program. 

WLRM offers grants ranging from $5000 to $5 million. 
Funding helps a wide range of organisations tackle 
household waste and food waste, improve landfill sites 
and research innovative solutions, and contributes to the 
building of major recycling infrastructure.

The initiative has run more than 45 competitive grant 
rounds and awarded over $180 million to around 400 
individual projects.

Travelling stock reserves
By the second year of this project, 85% of travelling stock 
reserve (TSR) conservation value assessments had been 
completed on previously unassessed TSRs. Local Land 
Services (LLS) finalised a tailored training package for each 
region, and 126 staff have now been trained to carry out 
assessments. An app has also been developed for quick 
and easy data collection. Conservation assessment data 
and historic data on TSR conservation values, along with 
important landscape and environmental datasets, have 
been incorporated into a spatial database. This will form 
the basis of an online, publicly available, statewide map of 
TSR conservation values, which will enable linear reserve 
managers to view information collected over time using the 
rapid assessment method.

Highlights of 2017–18
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Contestable grants programs
In 2017–18 the Trust awarded more than $39 million through 
its contestable grants programs for projects that meet the 
Trust’s objectives. This includes:

�� around $30.5 million for projects that will help to reduce 
waste and increase recycling through the Waste Less, 
Recycle More initiative

�� $1.18 million for environmental education projects across 
the community and government sectors

�� around $5.53 million for projects that will enhance 
and restore natural habitat through rehabilitation and 
regeneration activities, including Aboriginal projects

�� $297,500 for school projects that provide opportunities 
for children to learn about environmental sustainability 
and food gardens

�� $1.57 million for research projects that will provide 
innovative solutions in the areas of biodiversity, 
threatened species, waste and pollution, and 
environmental stewardship.
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Trust Programs and  
Achievements 
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Land Acquisition

Funding the acquisition of land for national parks and other reserves for the 
national parks estate through section 7(d) of the Environmental Trust Act. 

Achievements in 2017–18
This year the Program supported $7.865 million of strategic 
high conservation value land purchases administered by 
NPWS. This included $7 million paid by the Trust in 2017–18 
and $865,000 of unspent funds from the koala habitat 
conservation addendum from 2016 –17. Three themes 
guided these acquisitions: creating effective and efficient 
management of parks, connectivity conservation and 
conserving habitat to support koala populations.

Eleven properties across 10 national parks or reserves were 
voluntarily acquired, covering 4826 hectares. All adjoin 
existing national parks, making on-ground conservation 
actions more efficient.

Acquisitions will add land to:

�� Gwydir Wetlands State Conservation Area  
(1321.04 hectares)

�� Warra National Park (1851.44 hectares)

�� Koukandowie Nature Reserve (440.3 hectares).

�� Jervis Bay National Park (11.19 and 0.52 hectares across 
two properties)

�� Lane Cove National Park (0.6 hectares)

�� Goulburn River National Park (48.57 hectares)

�� Yengo National Park (24.28 hectares)

�� Yuraygir National Park (683 hectares – first stage of a 
two-stage acquisition)

�� Wollondilly River Nature Reserve (401.99 hectares)

�� Cudgera Creek Nature Reserve (43.14 hectares).

Most of these properties satisfy the objectives of more 
than one of the acquisition conservation themes. 

The Land Acquisition Program was independently evaluated 
in 2017–18. The evaluation found that it delivers a range of 
direct and indirect benefits, including:

�� acquiring 183 properties totalling about 433,939 hectares 
between 2000 and 2016, more than doubling annual 
targets on average

�� creating 18 new parks, including conservation of land 
which holds greater significance and relevance for 
Aboriginal people

�� leveraging funds from other projects, including  
$18 million from an Australian Government National 
Reserve System grant

�� supporting direct and indirect benefits for local 
communities, especially in regional New South Wales, 
including employment, tourism, research opportunities, 
education and recreation. 

This year the Trust increased funding to the Land 
Acquisition Program by $19.88 million over four years, split 
evenly between the general and koala habitat acquisition 
programs. The Trust also approved an additional four years 
of program funding of over $20 million (Table 1). Combined 
with Land Acquisition Program monies already approved 
by the Trust, this takes the Program’s allocation to around 
$51 million over five years.

Over $7 million 
spent on acquiring high 
conservation value land

4826 
hectares 
purchased for 
national parks
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Connectivity conservation
Five acquisitions were made in 2017–18 that connect 
habitats in the landscape, allowing species to adjust their 
ranges in response to threats such as climate change and 
habitat contraction. Two are described below.

North-west of Moree, 1321.04 hectares of land were 
purchased in the Gwydir Wetlands, one of the most 
significant semi-permanent wetlands in north-western 
New South Wales and one of the most important sites 
in Australia for colonial nesting waterbirds. The Gwydir 
floodplain is an area of rapid agricultural development and 
less than 15% of its original extent remains in a relatively 
natural condition. This property links two sections of the 
Gwydir Wetlands State Conservation Area and includes 
key waterbird nesting sites. It will support future breeding 
of many species including the endangered magpie goose 
and brolga. Containing three endangered ecological 
communities, the property is in the Darling Riverine Plains 

Bioregion, one of the most under-represented bioregions 
in the reserve system. This land will be added to Gwydir 
Wetlands State Conservation Area. 

West of Grafton, 440.3 hectares were purchased linking 
three sections of Koukandowie Nature Reserve. The reserve 
relates to six regional habitat corridors and lies within the 
highly significant Kangaroo Sandstone Belt, rich in ecological 
diversity. Two of its vegetation communities are under-
represented in the national park system, and its sandstone 
rock faces and gullies support a range of threatened fauna 
species including the brush-tailed rock-wallaby, glossy 
black-cockatoo and koala. Koukandowie Nature Reserve 
and surrounds are linked to Aboriginal cultural pathways 
from the Northern Tablelands to the Clarence River, with 
significant cultural sites which are indicative of the rich 
indigenous cultural landscape. 

Wetland habitat bordering Gingham Waterhole
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Land acquisition for koala conservation
The program complements the efforts of the NSW Koala 
Strategy through the acquisition of land to protect koala 
habitat. The voluntary acquisition of land for protection 
of koala populations is now guided by a prioritisation 
framework. Developed this year, the prioritisation framework 
uses a Statewide spatial analysis of koala records, habitat 
mapping and habitat modelling across tenures undertaken 
through the OEH Saving our Species program. 

This year two properties were acquired for koala 
conservation. On the Wollondilly River, south-west of 
Moss Vale in the Southern Highlands, approximately 402 
hectares of land were acquired. The property forms part of 
the Southern Highlands link that joins the Blue Mountains 
to the wilderness areas of Morton National Park. The link 
contains habitat for more than 1000 koalas and allows for 
re-colonisation and natural movement of koalas in response 
to fires or drought. The property hosts several other 

threatened species including the glossy black-cockatoo, 
gang-gang cockatoo, scarlet robin and speckled warbler, as 
well as the shrub Pomaderris cotoneaster. The acquisition 
protects a critical part of an important wildlife corridor, as 
well as removing the threat of subdivision leading to habitat 
loss and fragmentation.

South of Tweed Heads, 43.14 hectares of land were 
acquired adjoining Cudgera Creek Nature Reserve. The 
land is very significant in terms of threatened species 
conservation, supports resident koalas and removes 
the threat of habitat fragmentation. Importantly, it 
preserves habitat connectivity to support east-to-west 
koala movement. It also contains Lowland Rainforest 
of Subtropical Australia, listed nationally as a critically 
endangered ecological community, as well as five nationally 
threatened flora species and nine State-listed flora species. 
The acquisition has increased the reserve’s size by 
approximately 70%. 

Table 1
Land Acquisition Program grants awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Title LGA Amount

Office of Environment and Heritage Land Acquisition Statewide $20,120,000

Office of Environment and Heritage Land Acquisition Statewide $19,880,000

Total $40,000,000
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Environmental Management and Restoration

The NSW Environmental Trust helps to enhance and restore 
the environment and reduce pollution and environmental 
degradation through a range of programs including:

�� the long-running contestable Restoration and 
Rehabilitation grants for community and government 
organisations 

�� the Saving our Species Partnership Grants program to 
protect threatened species in New South Wales

�� Community Bush Regeneration and Bush Connect 
grants which allow community groups to work together 
strategically to achieve restoration at a regional scale 

�� Protecting our Places grants for restoration projects by 
Aboriginal communities

�� a range of major, non-contestable Restoration and 
Rehabilitation projects

�� the Contaminated Land Management Program.

The Trust continues to deliver its leading-edge grants 
program design, including taking a diagnostic approach 
to environmental problems, focusing on issues at various 
scales and building the capacity of small and large 
organisations. Over a number of years, the Trust has 
moved from its investment in smaller grants to include 
larger, longer and more sophisticated funded projects as 
organisations gain experience at a local scale. By assessing 
problems and developing solutions, smaller grantees build 
their knowledge and experience while spending money 
more efficiently. The Trust encourages its technical review 
committees to take a similarly diagnostic approach to 
identify and support projects that are appropriate, effective 
and efficient. As well as funding solutions to environmental 
problems based on local needs, this approach often results 
in groups tackling larger or more complex environmental 
problems as they develop experience in delivering 
appropriate and effective funded projects. 
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Restoration and Rehabilitation Program

The Restoration and Rehabilitation Program assists 
community and government organisations to enhance 
and restore the environment of New South Wales through 
sustainable management and stewardship. A total of 
$4,483,850 was spent this year supporting grants currently 
in progress under this program.

This year the program was externally evaluated, which 
resulted in the creation of clearer objectives, including to: 

�� improve and protect the quality of ecosystems and 
environmental assets managed by community groups, 
land managers and stakeholders

�� enhance the management of environmental assets 
by facilitating the development of environmental 
expertise and stronger partnerships between individuals, 
community groups, governments and industry 

�� provide an appropriate, effective and sustainable 
mechanism to deliver government policy, priorities and 
outcomes.

In 2017–18 the Trust implemented the evaluation 
recommendations in the following ways:

�� adopting a program logic to refine program objectives 
and establish intermediate outcomes and aligned 
activities

�� adopting a project implementation planning framework 
to facilitate adaptive management principles and simplify 
reporting

�� strengthening project management by including 
mandatory activities during project planning, monitoring, 
evaluation and reporting

�� introducing grantee-led annual self-evaluation prior to 
progress reporting, with opportunities for grantees to 
revise their following year’s annual work plan

�� introducing minimum standards for mapping of project 
locations and activities.

Protecting and restoring our natural environment by reducing environmental 
degradation and pollution, protecting important ecosystems and habitats, and 
improving capacity for environmental restoration.

Achievements
Achievements from some of the restoration and 
rehabilitation projects completed this year include:

�� restoration and revegetation of 31 hectares of Box 
Gum Woodland between Molonglo and Murrumbidgee, 
providing connectivity between otherwise fragmented 
habitats for endangered woodland bird species including 
the scarlet robin, diamond firetail and others. Community 
awareness of the importance of these habitats for 
endangered birds has been greatly increased and many 
participants have enquired about how to be involved in 
future

�� improved condition and extent of migratory shorebird 
habitat through the removal of spiny rush (Juncus 
acutus) from over 927 hectares of the Hunter Wetlands, 
including highly sensitive saltmarsh habitat. Citizen 
science, collaboration between organisations and 
community engagement has resulted in successful 
monitoring and restoration of wetland habitat, leading to 
greater habitat for migratory birds

�� rehabilitation of 3.2 kilometres of the Clarence River 
including planting 200 mangrove trees, using innovative 
erosion control approaches and conducting bank 
stabilisation works. Excellent community engagement 
and landholder participation has provided a successful 
template for future projects

�� revegetation of underwater forests at eight sites along 
the Sydney coastline using transplants of the habitat-
forming crayweed. Hundreds of new crayweed recruits 
are already visible near some of the sites. Biodiversity 
monitoring shows these sites are supporting distinct 
communities of fish and benthic species and are likely to 
result in higher biodiversity overall. Extensive community 
engagement included citizen-science monitoring and an 
exhibit in Sculptures by the Sea 2016. 

Restoration and Rehabilitation grants 
awarded in 2017–18
In 2017–18, the Trust received 136 applications requesting 
$11,924,312. Of these, 48 grants were approved totalling 
$4,252,208 as follows:

�� 21 community grants ($2,035,906) 

�� 27 government grants ($2,216,302).

Tables 2 and 3 list the grants awarded under each of these 
funding streams.
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Restoration and Rehabilitation Program outcomes 2013–15

6276 hectares 
regenerated by native 
regrowth after weeding, fencing, 
erosion control or pest control

811 organisations
adopted improved land 
management practices

1011 hectares 
revegetated�

by planting or direct seeding

5830 volunteers
contributed 122,860 hours 
930 contractors
employed for around  
120,644 hours

34,205 people 
attended 1041 training  
and other events

6020 students
(primary, secondary and 
tertiary) involved for
25,757 hours

Note: This data is drawn from 161 projects that were funded in the 2013–15 grant years, with 81 of these projects (50%) now complete. 
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Table 2
Restoration and Rehabilitation community grants awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Title LGA Amount

Australian River Restoration Centre Limited Rivers of carbon Upper Murrumbidgee –  
Phase 2

Snowy Monaro $99,550

Bellinger Landcare Inc. Upper Bellinger River aquatic and terrestrial habitat 
connections

Bellingen $100,000

Big Scrub Rainforest Landcare Group Inc. Restoring critically endangered lowland subtropical 
rainforest

Byron $99,998

Brunswick Valley Landcare Inc. Brunswick Valley Landcare Inc: Broken Head Landcare 
Locality Group

Byron $99,970

Central Tablelands Landcare Inc. Linking and enhancing rocky outcrops – critical refugia for 
diversity in the Central Tablelands

Orange $94,561

Deua Rivercare Maintaining momentum and bridging the gaps on the 
HCVAE1 Deua River

Eurobodalla $99,647

Dundundra Falls Reserve Trust Dundundra Falls Reserve – ecological rehabilitation and 
restoration – Stage 3

Northern Beaches $77,505

Friends of the Koala Incorporated Working with the community to create greater connectivity 
for koalas on Lismore floodplain

Lismore $100,000

GLENRAC Inc. Restoring biodiversity and on-farm habitat – Glen Innes Glenn Innes-
Severn

$99,330

Greening Australia Capital Region One paddock at a time – practical solutions to restore 
critical woodland habitat on farms

Hilltops $100,000

Greening Australia Capital Region Restoring woodlands at scale in the Riverina for superb 
parrots and other threatened birds

Leeton $100,000

Orara Valley RiverCare Groups Management 
Committee Inc.

Enhancing EECs and endangered species habitat in the 
riparian zone of the Orara River

Coffs Harbour $100,000

Palm Grove Ourimbah Creek Landcare Inc. Restoration of lowland rainforest and swamp sclerophyll 
forest on floodplain

Central Coast $100,000

Petaurus Education Group Inc. Tackling fragmentation through 'stepping-stone' habitat 
connections for squirrel gliders

Greater Hume $99,960

Riverina Highlands Landcare Network Restoration of small keystone features in the Riverina 
Highlands landscape

Snowy Monaro $99,980

South West Rocks (SWR) Community Dune 
Care Group

Protection of Littoral Rainforest by removal of invasive 
weeds around South West Rocks

Kempsey $98,648

Three Valleys Landcare Inc. Putty Creek restoration Singleton $99,827

Tweed Landcare Inc. Filling biodiversity gaps connecting Tweed Coast to Border 
Ranges –Stage 4

Tweed $100,000

Tweed Landcare Inc. Mid Oxley River riparian restoration and connectivity – 
Stage 2

Tweed $100,000

Upper Snowy Landcare Committee Inc. Restoring trees to the Monaro Snowy Monaro $99,900

Whian Whian Landcare Inc. Expanding pouched frog habitat in the Rocky Creek 
catchment –Stage 1

Lismore $67,030

Total $2,035,906
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Table 3
Restoration and Rehabilitation government grants awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Title LGA Amount 

Ballina Shire Council Regenerating Big Scrub Lowland Rainforest and restoring healthy 
riparian corridors

Ballina $95,358

Bathurst Regional Council Rehabilitation of the Macquarie River riparian corridor Bathurst $77,470

Bega Valley Shire Council Merimbula Lake foreshore connections – Lake St foreshore reserve 
restoration project

Bega Valley $71,180

Byron Shire Council Flying improvement – working towards flying-fox and community 
coexistence

Byron $79,050

Eurobodalla Shire Council Fighting ferals to protect Eurobodalla's EECs Bega Valley $99,987

Georges River Combined 
Councils' Committee (GRCCC)

Rehabilitation of Simmo's Beach catchment Campbelltown $51,200

Georges River Combined 
Councils' Committee (GRCCC)

Rehabilitation of the Oyster Creek Gully habitat corridor Sutherland $47,000

Georges River Council Restoration and rehabilitation of Gannons Park, Peakhurst Georges River $100,000

Hunter Local Land Services A beacon in the landscape – recognising and enhancing habitat at 
Mount Breckin

Dungog $100,000

Hunter Local Land Services Beyond the bend – Wollombi Brook riparian rehabilitation project, Broke, 
NSW

Singleton $50,000

Hunter Local Land Services Working towards eradication of giant reed on the Pages River in the 
Upper Hunter

Upper Hunter $150,000

Lake Macquarie City Council Assisting Landcare in restoring a rainforest gully at Floraville Ridge 
Reserve

Lake Macquarie $29,144

Lord Howe Island Board Restoring Blackburn Island in preparation for the translocation of the 
Lord Howe Island phasmid

Lord Howe Island $55,366

Maitland City Council Protection of Lower Hunter Spotted Gum Ironbark Forest Maitland $100,000

Northern Beaches Council Restoring pride in Curl Curl Lagoon Northern Beaches $100,000

NSW Department of Primary 
Industries – Fisheries

Port Stephens Oyster Reef restoration pilot Port Stephens $100,000

NSW Department of Primary 
Industries

Wallamore anabranch aquatic habitat rehabilitation project Tamworth $100,000

Office of Environment and 
Heritage, NPWS

Gully stabilisation to protect endangered Boxgum Woodland, Mcleods 
Creek Nature Reserve

Yass Valley $28,295

Parkes Shire Council Wetlands, waders and woodlands Parkes $100,000

Port Stephens Council Littoral Rainforest – Soldiers Point Port Stephens $96,350

Port Stephens Council Mambo – managing and monitoring biodiversity outcomes Port Stephens $99,910

Queanbeyan-Palerang Regional 
Council

Grand Canyon: Protecting Redbox Reserve endangered ecological 
community from erosion

Queanbeyan-
Palerang 

$96,600

Snowy Monaro Regional Council Keeping a 'hawk-eye' on hawkweed Snowy Monaro $74,525

Tweed Shire Council Conserving cockatoos and curlews on the Tweed Coast Tweed $99,810
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Organisation Title LGA Amount 

Tweed Shire Council Upper Tweed River estuary – riparian and aquatic habitat rehabilitation Tweed $96,780

Wagga Wagga City Council Installation of glider poles in the Birramal Conservation Area Wagga Wagga $53,277

Wollongong City Council Restoration and rehabilitation of Bellambi Lagoon and dunes Wollongong $65,000

Total $2,216,302

 � C A S E  S T U D Y

Kyogle fishway

Kyogle Weir had been restricting the upstream migration 
of Australian bass, endangered eastern freshwater cod 
and other native migratory freshwater fish. With the help 
of a Restoration and Rehabilitation grant, Kyogle Council 
constructed a fishway on the Richmond River to allow 
fish to move downstream to breed in winter and give 
unimpeded access to more than 300 kilometres of the 
upper Richmond River catchment where they look for new 
habitat in spring. 

The weir had a 2 metre drop which obstructed the 
migration of adult fish and almost completely excluded the 
juveniles, which migrate during lower flows. The innovatively 
designed fishway consists of 24 shallow steps made from 
concrete baffles that increase in height by 100 millimetres 
in each row. This distributed height allows fish to make their 
way upstream. The river flows over the top of the concrete 
baffles and through deep V-shaped slots between them. 

Kyogle Council worked with NSW Government agencies, 
the NSW Recreational Fishing Trust and Kyogle Fishing 
Club to design and implement the fishway. The combined 
knowledge and expertise of various NSW Government 
agencies responsible for fisheries, water quality, water 
engineering design and construction project management 
made for a quality, fit-for-purpose fishway. It also helped to 

secure the more than $1.1 million in funding required for the 
project, $100,000 of which was funded by the Trust.

Kyogle Council manufactured the concrete baffles in-house, 
which were installed in-stream by a private contractor. The 
water had to be diverted from the construction site, which 
was still subject to unpredictable river flows. This made the 
job challenging and delayed progress on several occasions, 
however the fishway design was constructed at half the 
cost of other options. Soon after it was finished the fishway 
was tested by extreme weather causing major flooding. It 
withstood the test and was officially opened in May 2017.

One of the most common fishway issues is water velocity, 
consistency of the drop and movement of rocks. NSW 
Department of Primary Industries (DPI) recently reviewed 
NSW fishways and found that the Kyogle fishway does 
not catch debris, provides consistent conditions, has no 
operational requirements and needed no maintenance 
in its first year. With very minor modifications, DPI has 
recommended the Kyogle design be used around the State 
where rock ramp fishways are being considered. 

Barriers to fish passage are listed as a key threatening 
process, however Kyogle Council has successfully removed 
the last remaining barrier to fish passage in the Richmond 
River, providing native fish with access to high-quality habitat.



   NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2017–18    15

Community Bush Regeneration Grants

Since commencing in 2012, the Community Bush 
Regeneration Program has been helping community 
groups tackle restoration programs at a regional scale. 
This $10 million program funds direct community action in 
the conservation and rehabilitation of priority natural areas 
and consists of two components. The large-scale Bush 
Regeneration grants are administered by the Trust, while the 
Private Land Conservation Grants program is administered 
by the Foundation for National Parks & Wildlife. No new 
grants were awarded under the program this year. 

Community Bush Regeneration Program 
Providing funding over six years, the Community Bush 
Regeneration Program enables community groups to 
work together across large areas to achieve enduring 

Assisting community groups to strategically tackle the restoration of priority 
bushland areas at a regional scale.

Community Bush Regeneration Program outcomes since 2012

environmental outcomes for their region, providing for the 
regeneration of degraded bushland, including riverbanks, 
urban bushland, degraded waterways and rare or 
endangered ecosystems. The aim is to improve the health 
and resilience of these bushland ecosystems and improve 
ecological connectivity within and between natural areas.

All 34 projects funded at the start of the program in 2011–
12 are scheduled for completion next financial year, and this 
year $158,825 was spent on final milestone payments. 

An evaluation to be scheduled in 2018–19 will determine 
how the time frame and reliability of funding has shaped 
project delivery by grantees. 

Some of the program’s notable achievements are 
highlighted in the case study below on the Coal Point 
Progress Association’s project. 

62,543 hectares
of vegetation connected 
across terrestrial, riparian and 
wetland communities through 
regeneration and revegetation

6423 students�
involved in bush 
regeneration activities for
19,143 hours

386 professional 
contractors
employed for 135,216 
hours on bush 
regeneration activities

7080 hectares
of degraded bushland 
currently under regeneration

6349 volunteers
contributed 
293,336 hours 

167,819 seedlings
planted to restore native 
habitats
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 � C A S E  S T U D Y

Pick your passion – engaging the community in bush regeneration at Coal Bay

Established in 1946, Coal Point Progress Association (CPPA) 
is a local institution and one of 300 volunteer Landcare 
groups working in the Lake Macquarie area. CPPA was 
awarded a $250,000 grant to regenerate 20.2 hectares of 
bushland along the Coal Point peninsula and 8.7 hectares of 
wetlands and catchment at Carey Bay. 

The Coal Point peninsula contains a bushland ridge 
comprising public and private land. Over many decades 
the corridor has been exposed to multiple key threatening 
processes including removal of bush rock, dead wood and 
trees; predation by feral animals; loss of hollow-bearing 
trees; invasion by weeds and escaped garden plants; 
clearing of native vegetation; and alteration of natural flow 
regimes of streams and floodplains. 

The CPPA delivered a six-year project to protect local native 
vegetation and restore habitat for local threatened species 
and populations. Project success was largely dependent on 

building broad community support and presenting the big 
picture as a connected series of engaging and achievable 
tasks. The CPPA engaged hundreds of local volunteers 
including Lake Macquarie Landcare, Trees in Newcastle, 
Toronto Area Sustainable Neighbourhood Group, Hunter–
Central Rivers Catchment Management Association, the 
local NPWS office and local schools. 

Through its website and community newsletters, CPPA 
has kept stakeholders informed and provided guidance on 
how to recognise and support local threatened plants and 
animals. People were encouraged to ‘pick a passion’ and 
‘find a focus’, such as noticing the movements of the local 
squirrel glider colony, or helping to install nesting boxes.

Finally, the online Bonza Bushland Gardening Guide 
provides clear explanations, suggestions and photographs 
to equip the residents of Coal Point in their ongoing journey 
to make the Coal Point peninsula weed-free.
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Achievements
In 2017–18, the Trust spent $1,433,581 to support projects 
that are conserving and protecting the following groups of 
threatened species:

�� 26 site-managed species (plants and animals that can be 
secured by site-specific conservation actions)

�� 12 landscape-managed species (plants and animals that 
need broad landscape-scale conservation actions to 
address habitat loss or degradation)

�� 67 co-occurring species (plants and animals that are 
listed in multiple SoS management streams)

�� 20 data-deficient species addressing 30 identified priority 
research areas.

Round 1 highlights this year include the release of 100 
captive-bred regent honeyeaters into the wild and the 
discovery of a large wild population of the endangered 
crimson spider orchid. Only one small population of this 
orchid was previously known to exist in New South Wales.

Round 2 highlights include the release over 100 baby Bell’s 
turtles into the Macdonald River in the Northern Tablelands, 
and the installation of sediment control structures to 
improve water quality in the habitat of the Blue Mountains 
water skink and the giant dragonfly.

Together, grantees from both rounds have negotiated 6 
binding conservation agreements.

Data-deficient research grantees have substantially 
improved knowledge of 17 threatened flora species and 
three threatened frogs, and recommended a range of 
actions to improve species management. 

The $10 million Saving our Species (SoS) Partnership 
Grants program funds coordinated partnerships between 
government, industry and community organisations to 
protect and conserve threatened plant and animal species 
within New South Wales. Grants have 10-year time frames, 
increasing the likelihood of long-term improvements in 
threatened species populations. The program includes a 
small research program for data-deficient species. 

The Trust and grantee fund 80% of the total project cost 
in the first six years, with the remaining 20% committed 
solely by the grantee over the following four years. All 
funded projects align with the objectives of the NSW 
Government’s $100 million Saving our Species program 
which is managed by OEH. 

The SoS Partnership Grants program supports nine long-
term projects of between $500,000 and $1 million. Two 
smaller projects target data-deficient species and are 
increasing our knowledge about the distribution, ecology 
and threats facing these species, as well as effective 
management actions to help secure them in the wild.

This year’s focus has been on supporting the 11 currently 
funded projects. 

Saving our Species Partnership Grants

Supporting multiple stakeholder partnerships between government, industry and 
community organisations to protect and conserve threatened plant and animal 
species in the wild within New South Wales.
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 � C A S E  S T U D Y

Releasing artificially hatched Bell’s turtles into the wild

Over 100 baby Bell’s turtles have been released into the 
Macdonald River in north-west New South Wales, providing 
a major boost to the wild population of this endangered 
species. The Bell’s turtle is a unique short-necked 
freshwater turtle and is restricted to upland streams in the 
Namoi, Gwydir and Border River catchments. The hatchlings 
were released at seven sites near Bendemeer, north of 
Tamworth, in April 2018.

Funded with $985,191 from the Trust’s Saving Our 
Species Partnership Grant Program, the release was the 
result of a year-long collaborative effort coordinated by 
Northern Tablelands Local Land Services, working with 
local landholders, turtle ecologists, researchers from the 
University of New England and ecologists from the Office 
of Environment and Heritage. 

To help secure the survival of these turtle populations, the 
females were collected by researchers and, for the first 
time ever, induced to lay their eggs. The eggs were then 
incubated and hatched at the University of New England. 
The hatchlings were released at the same sites where the 
parent turtles were found.

This latest endeavour is one aspect of Turtles Forever, 
a larger species conservation project which has been 
running for 10 years and involves a coordinated series of 
conservation activities including fieldwork and research.

Another of the project’s activities began at the start of the 
turtle nesting season, assisted by Bunya, a springer spaniel 
detection dog. Bunya has been trained to locate Bell’s turtle 
nests so they can be identified and protected from foxes, 
the turtle’s major predator. This practice has helped the 
team to identify significant nesting areas, which are easier 
to protect than individual nest sites.

The program could not have happened without support 
from 12 local farmers who will receive funding to protect 
and restore streamside turtle habitat. These landholders also 
undertake year-round fox control and work with the project 
team to protect wild turtle nests with fox-proof mesh. 

The Turtles Forever project is helping to inform management 
programs that will ensure the long-term viability of Bell’s 
turtle populations in the wild for the next century and beyond.

SoS Partnership Grants outcomes from Round 1 and Round 2 grantees

139 hectares�
of degraded habitat is 
regenerating after weeding

1572 volunteers contributed  
more than 17,200 hours
of work towards conservation or 
regeneration activities

808 people attended  
29 training events  
in conservation or regeneration 
activities

Over 5200 people  
attended 39 different events raising awareness of 
threatened species and 113 educational 
resources have been developed

34,916 seedlings�
planted

138 hectares 
of native habitat 
revegetated by planting

234 hectares
of habitat protected 
through fencing

Note: This data is drawn from the second-year reports 
submitted by the five SoS partnership projects awarded 
in 2014 and four first-year reports from the four SoS 
partnership projects awarded in 2015. 
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Bush Connect

Building partnerships between community, industry and government to protect, 
conserve and restore the natural environment of the Great Eastern Ranges.

Now into its third year of operation, this $8 million program 
funds long-term outcomes for the NSW environment within 
the Great Eastern Ranges (GER) corridor. The Bush Connect 
program facilitates community, industry and government 
organisations working together to restore the natural 
environment through a range of practical on-ground and 
community capacity-building activities over a 10-year period. 

The Bush Connect program objectives are to: 

�� improve the condition and connectivity of natural 
resources and ecosystems within the GER corridor

�� increase the area of public and private land suitable for 
long-term protection (due to its environmental value) 
through appropriate conservation mechanisms

�� increase the number of partnerships and aligned efforts 
that protect the environmental values of the GER 
corridor.

In 2015 –16, the Trust awarded competitive grants of 
between $250,000 and $500,000 to 16 partnership-run 
projects, one of which withdrew. The remaining 15 projects 
are now in their third stage of implementation and will run 
until 2025. This year the Trust paid $1,707,448 for progress 
achieved through these grants.

Achievements
The following highlights the achievements of a project 
under the program.

Restoration and linkage of Wilsons and  
Coopers creeks
Goonengerry Landcare Group, Wilsons Creek Huonbrook 
Landcare Inc. and Byrangery Grass Reserve Trust are 
working with landholders in north-east New South Wales to 
enhance the connectivity and health of forests surrounding 
four national park and reserve areas. This year the grantee 
committed two additional properties to the project, 
increasing the number involved from 14 to 16. Although 
work on the two new properties has yet to commence, 
all other on-ground work is progressing well and primary 
work has been completed on at least 12 of the properties. 
Outputs from the project include two field days attended 
by 102 participants, as well as 17 children and two teachers 
from Goonengerry Public School. Educational materials have 
also been distributed via other Landcare events. 

Bush Connect outcomes since 2015

322 hectares 
of degraded bushland 
enhanced through weeding 

1338 volunteers
contributed more than
39,000 hours 
to on-ground works

69 professional 
contractors 
employed for over
15,900 hours on 
conservation activities

1237 hectares�
of new bushland corridors 
created

39 kilometres 
of fencing installed

57,091 seedlings 
planted and�
12 kilograms 
of native seed sown
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This year 550 koala food trees have been planted, with a 
survival rate of 90%. The first koala was sighted this year on 
a property that was recently planted, and two healthy adults 
were sighted in the regeneration area of another property. 
There have been observations of other species including the 
Wompoo fruit-dove, rose-crowned fruit-dove, pouched frog 
and Albert’s lyrebird. To provide a baseline for all sites, initial 
records of threatened flora and fauna have been made  
using council mapping records. So far, 69.13 hectares of 
land have been protected under conservation agreements, 
and 224.74 hectares have been protected under the Land for 
Wildlife program. 

Table 4 
Bush Connect supplementary grants awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Title LGA Amount

Australian River Restoration Centre Rivers of carbon – Goulburn district river linkages Goulburn – Mulwaree $99,518

Goonengerry Landcare Group Inc. Restoration and linkage of Wilsons and Coopers creeks Byron $99,344

Greening Australia Capital Region Monaro tree comeback Snowy Monaro $99,948

Holbrook Landcare Network Slopes to summit (S2S) bush connect Hume $90,404

Jaliigirr Biodiversity Alliance Inc. Jaliigirr landscape connections in the Great Eastern 
Ranges

Bellingen $99,300

Jiggi Catchment Landcare Group Inc. Landcare expanding high conservation value GER 
habitats and corridors

Lismore $79,000

Total $567,514

Supplementary funding
This year the Trust ran a supplementary program targeting 
existing Bush Connect grantees. Due to project withdrawal 
and program administration savings, over $500,000 was 
available to deliver a competitive grant round offering up 
to $100,000 per project. Six successful applicants were 
awarded a total of $567,514 to extend the outcomes they are 
currently achieving through their original funding allocation. 

All Trust-funded activities, including those under the 
supplementary round, will be completed by 2021. In-kind 
and grantee-funded activities will continue until 2025.

Details of the supplementary funding awarded are included 
in Table 4.
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Major Restoration and Rehabilitation Projects

The Trust funds a range of major restoration and 
rehabilitation projects. A total of $1,509,451 was spent 
this year on supporting existing and new major restoration 
and rehabilitation projects. The following sections provide a 
summary of the progress achieved through some of these 
diverse projects.

Two new major projects worth a total of $15 million 
were awarded this year (Table 5). The Flying-fox Habitat 
Restoration Program will improve roost habitat for this 
important pollinator while seeking to reduce conflict with 
human communities. A $10 million contestable grants 
program will develop new approaches to integrated river 
management to improve the health of NSW inland rivers.

Table 5 
Major Restoration and Rehabilitation projects awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Title LGA Amount

Local Government NSW Flying-fox Habitat Restoration Program Statewide $5,000,000

Various River Connections Statewide $10,000,000

Total $15,000,000

River Connections
This year, the Trust approved the $10 million, 11-year, 
River Connections grant program. The Trust developed the 
program’s business plan in consultation with a range of key 
stakeholders, including during a workshop with 25 experts. 
The grant is to be administered by the Trust. 

The program has been designed in recognition of that fact 
that, despite past efforts, the health of NSW inland rivers 
continues to decline. This is largely because no single 
agency has responsibility or control over all of the levers 
needed to effectively manage river health in an integrated 
way. The program will fund collaboration and will assist 
communities to trial new approaches to integrated river 
management that can lead to improved river health and 
other multi-user benefits. 

The Trust expects that funding will add value to existing 
activities and significantly leverage co-contributions. To 
maximise program impact and longevity, only one to two 
large-scale projects at catchment or sub-catchment scale 
will be funded. 

The Trust will call for expressions of interest in 2018. 
Selected applicants will be invited to submit a full 
application in Stage 2, with successful grantees 
implementing and evaluating their project in Stage 3. 

Flying-fox Habitat Restoration Program
This year the Trust approved $5 million over 11 years to 
provide long-term solutions to improve and restore flying-
fox roost habitat and support foraging habitat away from 
areas of conflict with communities. 

Administered by Local Government NSW, the program has 
two phases. Phase 1 includes rigorous research and design, 
overseen by a scientific advisory group, that will test 
methods that encourage flying-foxes to use specific sites. 

The outcomes of Phase 1 will inform whether the Trust 
proceeds to Phase 2, involving a 10-year devolved grant 
program with two streams. The first stream will create 
new roost sites and support foraging habitat in low-conflict 
locations. The second will enhance existing habitat in lower 
conflict locations, including on the edges of contentious 
camps away from the urban interface to reduce the impacts 
of stress on flying-foxes and communities. 

Biocontrol research for weed management
This project aims to take advantage of previous or current 
biocontrol research projects to significantly reduce the 
cost, time and resources required for researching the 
safe introduction of biocontrol agents for environmental 
weeds in New South Wales. The project is led by the 
Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research 
Organisation (CSIRO), taking a coordinated approach 
involving NSW DPI and OEH. 

The project is now in its research stage. Key achievements 
include: 

�� importing the fungus Passalora euphorbia, a promising 
agent for biocontrol of sea spurge, from Europe to a 
quarantine facility in Canberra 

�� developing a robust and reliable method for host-
specificity testing, including by optimising the culturing, 
inoculation and assessment protocols 

�� sourcing propagating material for 32 plant species, with 
plants from 29 accessions across 20 non-target species 
currently growing in a glasshouse 

�� commencing the first host-specificity trial, comprising 
nine non-target Euphorbia species.

CSIRO submitted required information packages to the 
national Environment and Invasives Committee (EIC) to 
support the nomination of broad leaf pepper tree and 
yellow bells as targets for biological control. EIC endorsed 
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the nomination of broad leaf pepper tree and requested 
additional consultation with the garden and nursery industry 
on the yellow bells nomination. CSIRO has conducted this 
consultation and submitted its findings to EIC for review.

Linear reserves

Council roadside reserves
The Council Roadside Reserves Project is managed 
by Local Government NSW to help councils with best 
practice roadside environmental management. In the 
past 12 months the project has awarded 21 grants to 
local government projects totalling over $1.2 million. 
Twenty-seven councils and one county council are piloting 
components of the Council Roadside Environmental 
Management Framework. These projects are building the 
capacity of councils to manage their roadside reserves 
through assessing their value, assigning management 
actions and linking this to councils’ planning, reporting and 
asset management systems. 

A number of projects are trialing the rapid assessment 
method (RAM). This tool provides a consistent, rapid 
method for assessing the environmental values of roadside 
reserves and travelling stock reserves. Over 500 roadside 
assessments have been undertaken using the RAM 
and some councils are trialling the new electronic data 
capture tools to assist in this process. An online training 
video is available to guide councils through using the new 
EcoRoadside app and a face-to-face training session has 
been held in one region. Councils have also begun training 
their staff and contactors on roadside management and the 
importance of managing this valuable natural asset. Over 
250 people have been trained in 10 local government areas.

Training for using the EcoRoadside app, Hawkesbury River County Council

Travelling stock reserves
Facilitated by a $4.75-million grant awarded in 2015 –16, LLS 
is assessing the conservation significance of all travelling 
stock reserves (TSRs) in New South Wales and establishing 
place management practices to retain and enhance 
natural values. In this second year of the project, 85% of 
TSR conservation value assessments were completed 
on previously unassessed TSRs. LLS finalised a training 
package tailored for each region and 126 staff have now 
been trained to carry out assessments. An app has also 
been developed for quick and easy data collection. 

Conservation assessment data and historic data on TSR 
conservation values, along with important landscape and 
environmental datasets, have been incorporated into a 
spatial database. This will form the basis of an online, 
publicly available, statewide map of TSR conservation 
values, which will enable linear reserve managers to view 
information collected over time using the RAM.

In the next 12 months, all remaining assessments 
will be completed and a Best Practice Management 
Toolkit will be finalised and distributed to LLS staff. A 
TSR Conservation Value Monitoring Framework is also 
expected to be completed and incorporated into LLS 
management planning, as well as a review of the RAM with 
recommendations for future improvement.

Bell miner associated dieback
In 2015, under the New Government Priorities stream, 
the Trust approved funding of $105,000 to consolidate 
and synthesise research on bell miner associated dieback 
(BMAD), including identifying gaps in scientific knowledge 
of its scale, relative causes and effects. 

The project has now been completed, resulting in increased 
clarity about the causes of, and interventions for, BMAD. 
The review included a diverse set of recommendations 
which have been prioritised for implementation beyond this 
project to drive a strategic, whole-of-government, cross-
tenure approach to managing BMAD in New South Wales. 

The project has improved the way government agencies 
manage BMAD, and has delivered on its original intention 
to facilitate a coordinated, whole-of-government approach 
to the issue. Forestry Corporation of NSW and OEH have 
shaped their BMAD strategies in response to the review 
and outcomes presented at the BMAD stakeholder 
workshop. DPI will continue its assessment of the scale 
and spread of BMAD across New South Wales in line with 
recommendations from the review. 

Interaction between agencies involved in the project 
steering committee has strengthened the potential 
for collaborative management of BMAD. The use of a 
systematic review process has been very successful 
in providing a high-quality and objective review of a 
contentious natural resource management issue, and 
proven to be a valuable tool in progressing natural 
resource management issues with complex and contested 
mechanisms and interventions.
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Jenolan Caves
In 2013, the Trust approved $743,718 in funding to replace 
the galvanised iron infrastructure in the Jenolan show 
caves, which was having an unacceptable impact on the 
cave structures and ecology.

The project has replaced iron handrails, steps and ladders 
from 3.9 kilometres of visitor infrastructure, with the 
exception of several small representative heritage sections. 
Although the replacement of ferrous material with stainless 
steel has removed a source of chemical contamination, 
the cost was not deemed to be commensurate with 
the environmental benefit achieved. As a result, an 
environmental offset program was developed, and it was 
a condition of the grant that funds saved due to lower 
infrastructure maintenance costs would be invested into a 
10-year environmental improvement program. These funds, 
over the life of the project, are to be used to invest in an 
equivalent amount of environmental offsets, through a 
series of initiatives set to be completed by 2022.

The project also includes an education component which 
uses the major works program as a catalyst to promote 
conservation principles. It also seeks to effect behaviour 
change in visitors through on-site interpretive activities.

New stainless-steel handrails in Diamond Cave, Jenolan Caves
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Protecting our Places Program

The Trust established the Protecting our Places (POP) 
Program in 2002 to fund projects delivered by Aboriginal 
organisations. Projects must protect, conserve and 
restore land that is culturally significant to Aboriginal 
people or support education about the environment and 
its importance in Aboriginal life. Through the POP program 
the Trust aims to increase each funded Aboriginal groups’ 
project management capabilities and encourage new 
collaborations with other organisations, government and 
stakeholders.

Program objectives include:

�� facilitating the sharing and protection of cultural 
knowledge with and between Aboriginal groups, 
government and public stakeholders

�� contributing to the improvement and management of 
environmental and cultural resources on country 

�� increasing the amount of culturally significant Aboriginal 
land protected, restored, enhanced and managed by 
local Aboriginal groups, land managers and stakeholders 

�� supporting connection to Country.

In November 2016 the Trust approved a new funding model 
for the program in response to an external evaluation. The 
new model provides for up to $500,000 in grant funding, 
and individual grants have been increased to a maximum of 
$65,000. Grants are delivered over a two-stage process. Stage 
1 focuses on developing a project plan and capacity building 
while Stage 2 focuses on the implementation of on-ground 
works and activities approved through the project plan. 

The first round of funding under the revised POP Program 
opened in June 2017. This year the Trust decided to award 
more funding as the program had not been run in recent 
years, funding 12 grants with a combined value of $707,471. 

Table 6
Protecting our Places grants awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Title LGA Amount 

Awabakal Local Aboriginal Land Council Rocky Knob revegetation and fox baiting project Newcastle City $64,755

Biamanga National Park Board of Management Cultural burning program in the SENSW Murrah landscape Bega Valley $60,000

Darkinjung Local Aboriginal Land Council Illegal access management and track rehabilitation Central Coast $64,956

Griffith Local Aboriginal Land Council Mallison Road restoration and rehabilitation project Griffith $63,000

Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council Protecting the Grotto Point engraving site Northern Beaches $37,000

Mogo Local Aboriginal Land Council Mogo midden and mangrove rehabilitation and protection Eurobodalla $34,600

Mothers Ancestral Guardians Indigenous 
Corporation

Restoring cultural practice for Country in Rick Farley 
Reserve

Wentworth $58,200

Murrin Bridge Local Aboriginal Land Council Managing biodiversity on Barooga Karrai Lachlan $64,960

Mutawintji Local Aboriginal Lands Council Culture and conservation in the far west NSW Central Darling $65,000

Muurrbay Bundani Aboriginal Corporation 
(MBAC)

Protection and enhancement of Gumbaynggirr Nation 
cultural sites

Clarence Valley $65,000

Jagun Alliance Aboriginal Corporation Grassy cultural pathways at Dorrobbee Grasslands Reserve Lismore $65,000

Onerwal Local Aboriginal Land Council Onerwal LALC Cultural Fire Practices Yass Valley $65,000

Total $707,471

During 2017–18 the Trust spent $111,712 on milestone payments to grantees under its Protecting our Places program.
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Contaminated Land Management Program

In 2017, the Contaminated Land Management (CLM) Program 
underwent an independent evaluation. The Natural Resources 
Commission conducted the evaluation and made several 
recommendations to maximise the impact Trust funding 
could have on this issue. As a result, the Trust narrowed 
the focus of the program to council gasworks and innocent 
owners with an allocation of $3 million over three years. 

The Council Gasworks Program enables the investigation 
and remediation of remaining known legacy sites in six 
specific council areas, including Newcastle, Dubbo, Orange, 
Tamworth, Parkes and Wellington. This grants program will 
commence in 2018–19 and will be administered by the Trust. 

The Innocent Owners Scheme provides a mechanism to 
fund remediation of contaminated sites that may come 
to the EPA’s attention through its role as environmental 
regulator or from interactions with regional councils. It 
provides funding to landowners that require assistance to 
remediate significant contamination where existing owners 
did not cause the contamination, the polluter is unknown 
and the owner does not have the resources to undertake 
remediation. Any grants awarded under this program will 
also be administered by the Trust. 

Table 7
Contaminated Land Management grants awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Title LGA Total

Various Contaminated Land Management Program Various $3,000,000

Total  $3,000,000
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Pollution Clean-up Programs

Pollution clean-up programs provide funds for councils 
and other land managers to manage pollution incidents 
where the polluter cannot be identified, or where there is 
uncertainty about the prospect of the responsible party 
paying clean-up costs. 

In 2017–18, the Trust agreed to transfer its pollution clean-
up programs to the EPA from 2018–19. The EPA will be 
awarded a grant of $2 million to commence in 2018–19 over 
four years for the Emergency Pollution Clean-up Program 
with approval to retain unspent funds for allocation into a 
rolling fund, to a maximum of $2 million. 

This was the last year the Trust funded the Illegally Dumped 
Asbestos Clean-up Program, which was transferred to the 
EPA on 1 July 2018. 

The Large-scale Emergency Pollution Clean-up Program 
expired on 31 December 2017. The EPA is now responsible 
for this program, and the Trust has agreed to assist 
financially with the initial set up of a rolling fund. This 
includes reallocating $1 million residual from the previously 
funded Contaminated Land Management Program yet to 
be repaid to the Trust, and any residual funding from the 
Emergency Pollution Clean-up Program.

The following is an overview of the activities of each 
program in this last year with the Trust.

Emergency Pollution Clean-up Program 
The Trust provided up to $500,000 each year for the removal, 
dispersal or mitigation of emergency pollution events 
through the Emergency Pollution Clean-up Program. One 
payment was made in 2017–18 to address an emergency 
pollution incident, with a total value of $13,000 (Table 8).

Large-scale Emergency Pollution Clean-up 
Program
The Large-scale Emergency Pollution Clean-up Program 
was established in 2013 as a temporary program to provide 
contingency funding in the case of a large-scale emergency 
pollution event, beyond the scope of the Trust’s Emergency 
Pollution Clean-up Program. Up to $2 million was available 
depending on the broader availability of funds within the 
Trust’s budget. 

A grant of $500,000 was awarded to the EPA and paid this 
year to address legacy asbestos contamination at residential 
sites used as disposal sites for asbestos waste, located 
primarily in the Parramatta local government area (Table 9).

Illegally Dumped Asbestos Clean-up 
Program 
The Illegally Dumped Asbestos Clean-up program was 
funded through the Waste Levy. It provided up to $500,000 
each year for the removal and management of illegally 
dumped asbestos and orphan waste. These funds were 
typically used for clean-up actions, including sampling, 
analysis and identification of waste; assessment of risk to 
human health or the environment; and removal, storage 
and disposal of the waste. In 2017–18, 33 grants worth 
$451,372.56 were made for clean-up of illegally dumped 
asbestos (Table 10).

Table 8
Emergency Pollution Clean-up payments awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Incident Date of incident Amount 

Fairfield City Council Orphan waste – Green Valley Creek, Fairfield January 2017 $13,000

Total $13,000

Table 9
Large-scale Emergency Pollution Clean-up grant awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Incident Date of incident Amount 

Environment Protection Authority Parramatta asbestos contamination emergency clean-up Unknown $500,000

Total $500,000
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Table 10
Illegally Dumped Asbestos Clean-up grants awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Incident Date of incident Amount 

Blacktown City Council Asbestos – Brumby St, Seven Hills May 2017 $7,380.00

Blacktown City Council Asbestos – Boden Rd, Seven Hills May 2017 $6,039.00

Blacktown City Council Asbestos – Rowood Rd, Prospect April 2017 $28,039.00

Blacktown City Council Asbestos – O'Connell St, Riverstone January 2018 $4,360.00

Blacktown City Council Asbestos – Otago St, Vineyard January 2018 $3,939.00

Canterbury-Bankstown Council Asbestos – Glossop Lane, Yagoona October 2016 $5,242.80

Canterbury-Bankstown Council Asbestos – Chisholm Rd, Sefton September 2016 $6,760.00

Department of Industry Asbestos – Hawk Mount Rd, Dora Creek September 2016 $7,181.82

Department of Industry Asbestos – Kings Point Drive, Kings Point October 2016 $2,035.00

Environment Protection Authority Asbestos – Shane Park Road, Shanes Park 2016 onwards $191,258.89

Fairfield City Council Asbestos – Lisbon St, Fairfield East March 2017 $5,417.00

Fairfield City Council Asbestos – Bindaree St, Lansvale February 2017 $6,797.00

Fairfield City Council Asbestos – Justin St, Smithfield January 2017 $7,594.00

Fairfield City Council Asbestos – Larra St, Yennora July 2017 $5,516.00

Hawkesbury City Council Asbestos – Rifle Range Rd, South Windsor May 2017 $4,411.60

Kiama Municipal Council Asbestos – Cnr Saddleback Mountain Rd & Princes Highway, Kiama March 2017 $10,807.40

Kiama Municipal Council Asbestos – Minnamurra Drive, Minnamurra May 2017 $2,475.55

Liverpool City Council Asbestos – Cnr Watts Rd & Western Rd, Kemps Creek May 2017 $4,430.02

Liverpool City Council Asbestos – Jardine Dr, Edmondson Park April 2017 $2,627.27

Liverpool City Council Asbestos – Kookaburra Rd, North Prestons March 2017 $4,027.00

Liverpool City Council Asbestos – Cuthel Rd, Badgerys Creek May 2017 $2,214.00

Liverpool City Council Asbestos – Thirtieth Ave, West Hoxton June 2017 $3,117.70

Liverpool City Council Asbestos – Flynn Ave & Twenty Seventh Ave, West Hoxton March 2017 $3,575.00

Liverpool City Council Asbestos – Riverside Rd & Childs Rd, Chipping Norton June 2017 $3,844.10

Liverpool City Council Asbestos – Lee and Clark Rd, Kemps Creek June 2017 $6,487.06

Liverpool City Council Asbestos – Twenty Seventh Ave West, Middleton Grange July 2017 $10,819.50

Liverpool City Council Asbestos – Longleys Rd, Badgerys Creek September 2017 $3,980.00

Office of Environment & Heritage Asbestos – Old Great North Rd, Yengo National Park May 2017 $9,150.00

Office of Environment & Heritage Asbestos – Hacking River Firetrail, Garrawarra State Conservation Area May 2017 $4,940.00

Office of Environment & Heritage Asbestos – intersection of Morisset Park January 2017 $25,757.00

Office of Environment & Heritage Asbestos – Hogarth Range Nature Reserve 2016/2017 $13,000.00

Shellharbour City Council Asbestos – Illawarra Light Railway Museum, Albion Park Rail September 2017 $45,659.85

Strathfield Municipal Council Asbestos – Pilcher St, Strathfield South January 2018 $2,490.00

Total $451,372.56
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Environmental Education

The Environmental Education Program provides competitive 
grants to community organisations and government 
agencies for a range of environmental projects that promote 
environmental awareness and sustainability. Projects 
funded through this program must demonstrate five basic 
principles for effective environmental education:

�� environmental benefit

�� community need

�� collaboration with partners

�� capacity building and training

�� evaluation and dissemination.

In 2017–18 the Trust’s Environmental Education and Eco 
Schools programs were the focus of an independent 
evaluation by the University of Technology Sydney (UTS) 
through its Institute for Public Policy and Governance and 
Institute for Sustainable Futures. 

The Trust is finalising an administration response, however 
the evaluation found that the education programs are unique, 
well-run and in high demand. It also found that the programs 
could be enhanced by incorporating new theories of 
transformative learning for sustainability and social practice. 

Achievements
Achievements from some of the education projects 
completed this year include:

�� NPWS directly engaged 1632 community members to 
protect threatened shorebirds during nesting, which is 
their most vulnerable time. This included coordinating 
eight community presentations during shorebird 
nesting season, school art workshops which resulted in 
development of a children’s story book ‘The Birds, the 
Sea, and Me’, three educational murals, and a series of 
guided beach walks.

�� Ten tonnes of litter were removed from across 177 
hectares of NSW coastline through the ‘Sand Soldiers’ 
program developed by the Take 3 initiative. Thirty-six 
NSW Surf Life Saving Clubs (SLSC) have adopted this 
program which is expected to continue significant 
reductions in marine debris and litter.

�� More than 350 community members from the Port 
Macquarie area attended 12 free workshops run by the 
local community garden ‘The Lost Plot’. Workshops 
covered sustainable fishing, composting and worm 
farming, chemical-free cleaning, no-dig gardening,  
frog pond construction, nest-box building and  
fostering Koala habitat.

Environmental Education Grants Program outcomes 2013–15

18,384 students
(primary secondary and 
tertiary) involved for
84,590 hours

415 partnerships�
with government and  
community organisations

1682 training�

and awareness raising 
events delivered to over 
34,400 people

2900 volunteers�
contributed 
19,090 hours

568 publications�
and education products  
produced

Note: This data is drawn from 49 projects that were funded in the 2013–2015 grant years, with 36 of these projects (73%) now complete. 
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(Table 11) and nine government grants totalling $628,896 
(Table 12).

It is anticipated that some 270 educational products and 
publications will be produced through the 16 projects 
funded in 2017–18. Through these projects over 11,600 
people – including almost 7,500 primary, secondary and 
tertiary students – are expected to receive environmental 
education through an estimated 430 training and 
awareness-raising events.

Each year the Trust offers a total of $1 million in competitive 
environmental education grants, with $500,000 available 
to community organisations and $500,000 to government 
entities.

In 2017–18 the Trust received 70 expressions of interest 
for the community stream of the Environmental Education 
Program, and 47 for the government stream. Fifteen 
community and 15 government organisations were invited 
to submit full applications. Based on these applications, the 
Trust awarded seven community grants totalling $551,786 

Table 11
Environmental Education community grants awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Title LGA Total

Australian Association for Environmental 
Education NSW Chapter Inc.

Best practice sustainability education and engagement for NSW Statewide $95,760

Barragal Landcare Group Inc. Skilling up the community to reduce fox impacts in  
south-west Sydney

Wollondilly $88,000

Corowa and District Landcare Inc. Sounding the chorus for frogs in Corowa's wetlands Federation $40,790

Greening Australia (NSW) Ltd Reveal and restore western Sydney dry rainforest Various $86,876

North Coast Regional Landcare Network Inc. Rising strong: conserving biodiversity in a changing climate Tweed $96,003

Tweed Landcare Inc. Bush skills: Training for landholders managing valuable bushland Tweed $44,400

Z-NET Uralla Inc. The elephant in the woodlands – impact of firewood collection Uralla $99,957

Total $551,786

Environmental Education Grants Program

Supporting educational projects that develop the community’s knowledge,  
skills, and commitment to protecting the environment and promoting  
sustainable behaviour.
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Table 12
Environmental Education government grants awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Title LGA Amount

Central Coast Council Brisbane Water Estuary education project Central Coast $100,000

Central Tablelands Local Land Services 2020 water smart gardens Various $98,270

Cessnock City Council Citizens, science and woodland birds of Cessnock Cessnock $92,014

Clarence Valley Council Coastal emus and koalas in the Clarence Clarence Valley $100,000

Eurobodalla Shire Council Weed finder – a self-help system for weed control Eurobodalla $48,762

Hilltops Council Hollows habitats for Hilltops Hilltops $40,800

Tweed Shire Council Small farms big changes – growing positive  
environmental behaviours

Tweed $59,050

Waverley Council Living connections Waverley $70,000

Yass Valley Council Hands on for less waste Yass Valley $20,000

Total   $628,896

During 2017–18 the Trust spent $837,616 on milestone 
payments to grantees under its Environmental Education 
Program.

Major Education Project

Every Bit Counts – Engaging small landholders for 
ongoing environmental outcomes 
The Every Bit Counts project, awarded in 2017–18, will 
engage small landholders with 2 to 20 hectare lots across 
four LLS regions including Greater Sydney, Hunter, South 
East, and North Coast. There has been an increase in the 
number of properties divided into ‘lifestyle’ blocks, and tree 
changers and hobby farmers collectively manage about 
85,500 properties across New South Wales. Although they 
often bring new skills and resources to rural communities, 
new small landholders usually lack experience in 
managing rural lands and can inadvertently cause negative 

environmental impacts on their properties and those of their 
neighbours. 

Small landholdings can play a huge part in the patchwork of 
land management and environmental values across NSW 
landscapes, and the $2 million Every Bit Counts project 
will equip small landholders to protect ecosystem values 
on their properties. It will support them to adopt best 
management practices and reduce threatening processes 
such as erosion, over-grazing and degradation of native 
vegetation, as well as learning how to properly manage 
pest animals and weeds. 

The project aims to establish a long-lasting, self-
perpetuating movement of change and improved 
environmental outcomes. It will achieve this by building 
peer-to-peer networks, undertaking collaborative works and 
fostering connections with other land managers including 
local Landcare. This will ensure that small landholders can 
improve the way they manage their land for the benefit of 
themselves, their neighbours and the local environment. 

Table 13
Major Environmental Education project awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Title LGA Amount

Local Land Services Every bit counts – engaging small landholders for ongoing environmental outcomes Various $2,000,000

Total $2,000,000
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Providing hands-on learning opportunities for students, teachers and the school 
community through curriculum-based environmental education.

Eco Schools Program

The Eco Schools Program provides environmental 
learning opportunities for students, teachers and the 
school community through hands-on, curriculum-based 
environmental education focusing on strong student 
participation.

The Trust provides grants of $3500 for projects that aim to: 

�� increase resource use efficiency and improve the local 
environment

�� develop student knowledge, values and behaviour to 
support environmental sustainability

�� assist teachers to access targeted professional learning 
and integrate environmental management into school 
curriculums

�� encourage schools and the community to work together 
for sustainability outcomes. 

Achievements
Projects from the 2015 round achieved a diverse range 
of environmental outcomes including establishing new 
fruit, vegetable, herb and bush tucker gardens as well as 
establishing recycling systems. Several schools included 
aquaponics systems for water savings in their project plans, 
and focused on sustainable living through composting, 
worm farming and sustainable food production.

Macquarie Fields Public School in Sydney’s south-west 
created an Indigenous garden and established 40 native 
plants with the assistance of a horticulturalist from 
the Australian Botanic Garden at Mount Annan. The 

horticulturalist instructed students in planting and care of 
the new plants, and students learnt about how Aboriginal 
people used them for food and medicine. A stand-out 
feature of this project was the strong support from around 
80 volunteers. Members of the local Aboriginal community 
visited the school during NAIDOC Week to demonstrate 
Indigenous music, dancing, and to conduct a smoking 
ceremony. 

Six units of learning were developed with a focus on 
geography in line with new syllabus requirements. Teachers 
attended professional development to add depth to student 
learning, and the school now plans to build on project 
outcomes by establishing plants that will attract native 
birds, as well as developing curriculum resources to support 
learning using tablets and smartphones. 

Eco Schools grants awarded in 2017–18
This year, the Trust awarded a total of 85 grants totalling 
$297,500 from a total pool of 155 applications (Table 14). 

These projects are expected to involve almost 7000 primary 
school students and 2000 high school students, who 
together will spend nearly 34,000 hours learning about a 
range of environmental issues. Approximately 6000 food 
and non-food plants will be established, and almost 500 
volunteers from the schools and local communities are 
expected to participate. This year will include the delivery 
of more than 270 units of study, and participants expect to 
recycle or reduce waste by more than 20 tonnes. 

Eco Schools Program outcomes 2015

Note: 76 projects continued after being awarded funding in 
the 2015 grant year, with data drawn from the final reports 
collated for 63 projects (or 83%) so far received. 

9249 primary and  
1239 secondary students 
participated

323 new or updated 
teaching units delivered

11,038 plants 
cultivated, including 
food and native plants

526 volunteers 
contributed 
9206 hours

48 tonnes of waste 
recycled or avoided
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Table 14
Eco Schools Program grants awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Title LGA Amount

Adamstown Public School Kanduba Garden (place of bush tucker) Newcastle City $3,500

Ambarvale Public School Indigenous cultural garden Campbelltown $3,500

Anson Street School Bush tucker sensory garden Orange $3,500

Anzac Park Public School Growing our community and our garden North Sydney $3,500

Aspect Macarthur School Cobbitty Participation, engagement and understanding – sensory 
garden

Camden $3,500

Barmedman Public School From garden to plate Bland $3,500

Bellevue Hill Public School AWARES (anti-waste, always recycling, environmentally 
sustainable)

Woollahra $3,500

Belmore Boys High School 4B – Bring back the birds and the bees Canterbury-
Bankstown 

$3,500

Bogangar Public School Caba LEARNscape Tweed $3,500

Bourke Public School Bush tucker garden Bourke $3,500

Briar Road Public School 'Grow, eat, smile' kitchen garden in Amaroo playground Campbelltown $3,500

Bungwahl Public School Sugar bag wrap Mid-Coast $3,500

Canterbury South Public School Four seasons organic food garden Canterbury-
Bankstown 

$3,500

Caringbah High School The bee all and end all – increasing biodiversity using native 
bees

Sutherland $3,500

Clarence Town Public School Clarence Town permaculture project Dungog $3,500

Coffs Harbour Public School Growing together Coffs Harbour $3,500

Collins Creek Public School What's in the box? Enhancing habitat for hollow-dependent 
species

Kyogle $3,500

Condobolin High School Food in our water Lachlan $3,500

Corpus Christi Catholic Primary School 
St Ives

Where does our food come from? Ku-Ring-Gai $3,500

Daceyville Public School Reducing waste through paddock to plate Botany $3,500

East Hills Boys High School Native retreat Canterbury-
Bankstown 

$3,500

Erina Heights Public School Native learnscape Central Coast $3,500

Euabalong West Public School A little patch of 'The West' Cobar $3,500

Evans High School Improving waste management at Evans Blacktown $3,500

Gerringong Public School Dhungang Nura – our knowledge in our bush tucker garden Kiama $3,500

Glenmore Park High School Glenmore Park health check (GP health check) Penrith $3,500

Glenquarry Public School Learning to care for ourselves and our environment Wingecarribee $3,500

Hawkesbury High School Bush tucker garden and yarning circle Hawkesbury $3,500



   NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2017–18    33

Organisation Title LGA Amount

JJ Cahill Memorial High School Growing fresh Botany $3,500

John Therry Catholic High School Sustainable hydroponic food garden Campbelltown $3,500

Karonga School Renewed and sustainable: the courtyard makeover project Parramatta $3,500

Kurri Kurri High School Kama Mayapa Wiyala (protect, plant and speak together) Cessnock $3,500

Largs Public School Our native garden trail Maitland $3,500

Lavington Public School Young sprouts food garden and bush medicine garden Albury $3,500

Liverpool West Public School Sustainable school garden Liverpool $3,500

Malabar Public School Let us grow Randwick $3,500

Megalong Public School The Megalong bush tucker trail and bottle brush gardens Blue Mountains $3,500

Merewether Public School Hands in the earth: native bush tucker garden and garden club Newcastle City $3,500

Mimosa Public School Regenerating and cultivating gardens at Mimosa Northern Beaches $3,500

Minerva School Learning for life Sutherland $3,500

Mount Annan Christian College Amaroo Waters Camden $3,500

Mount Keira Public School Exploring our creek ecosystem from within our living 
classroom

Wollongong $3,500

Mt St Benedict College Bennies bushcare begins Hornsby $3,500

Narrabeen Lakes Public School Connections: bush tucker garden with outdoor learning area Northern Beaches $3,500

Nashdale Public School Nature playground as an erosion solution Cabonne $3,500

Newport Public School Newport Public School Guringai food garden Northern Beaches $3,500

Nillo Infants School Aboriginal bush tucker and medicinal garden Nillo  
Infants School

Maitland $3,500

North Wagga Public School North Wagga nude food warriors Wagga Wagga $3,500

Our Lady of the Rosary, The Entrance Exploratory garden Central Coast $3,500

Pretty Beach Public School Sensory garden Central Coast $3,500

Quakers Hill Public School QHPS recycled bottle greenhouse Blacktown $3,500

Queanbeyan East Public School Jubilee vegetable garden Queanbeyan-Palerang $3,500

Revesby South Public School RSPS know how to BEE eco friendly Canterbury-
Bankstown 

$3,500

Riverina Environmental Education Centre Citizen science – animal count Wagga Wagga $3,500

Rutherford Technology High School Support unit sensory garden Maitland $3,500

Ryde East Public School Developing a wildlife corridor Ryde $3,500

Sadleir Public School Vertical sensory garden Liverpool $3,500

Scone Public School Bee wise for our future Upper Hunter $3,500

South West Rocks Public School Recycling rocks at South West Rocks Kempsey $3,500

St Bernard's Catholic Primary School 
Berowra Heights

CHARM garden – creative, healthy, active, responsible, 
mindful

Hornsby $3,500

St John Paul College Coffs Harbour A life of unity Coffs Harbour $3,500
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Organisation Title LGA Amount

St John the Evangelist Catholic Parish 
Primary School

Yarning circle Campbelltown $3,500

St Joseph's Primary School Wauchope The next gen: establishing lifelong sustainable habits Port Macquarie - 
Hastings

$3,500

St Martin's Catholic Primary School Learning beyond the classroom Northern Beaches $3,500

St Mary's Catholic Primary School, Manly Going back to nature Northern Beaches $3,500

St Marys North Public School Edible school garden project Penrith $3,500

St Patrick's College Campbelltown St Pats re-think waste! Campbelltown $3,500

St Paul's College, Kempsey Native edible garden Kempsey $3,500

St Pius X Primary School Dubbo Food garden and cooking Dubbo $3,500

Summer Hill Public School Summer Hill environmental leadership learning spaces 
(SHELLS)

Inner West $3,500

Swansea High School Meapuliko – cultivating for the future Lake Macquarie $3,500

Taree High School Sustainable food supply Mid-Coast $3,500

Tenterfield High School Healthy bodies, healthy minds – sensory garden Tenterfield $3,500

The Armidale Waldorf School (TAWS) Walking together – learning together Armidale $3,500

The Rock Central School Little steps – reducing our community's carbon footprint Lockhart $3,500

Upper Coopers Creek Public School The green umbrella program Byron $3,500

Vaucluse Public School School community sustainability exhibition Woollahra $3,500

Wagga Wagga High School The sixth sense sensory garden Wagga Wagga $3,500

Wambangalang Environmental Education 
Centre

Bush camp kitchen Dubbo $3,500

Wangee Park School Wangee Park's ‘dreamtime garden’ Canterbury-
Bankstown 

$3,500

Wiley Park Girls High School Wiley sustainable ecogarden Canterbury-
Bankstown 

$3,500

Wiley Park Public School Our edible sensory garden Canterbury-
Bankstown

$3,500

Woonona High School Where the environment and a safe place comes together Wollondilly $3,500

Wycliffe Christian School Wycliffe community garden Blue Mountains $3,500

Yennora Public School Bush tucker garden Fairfield $3,500

Total $297,500

The Trust paid $269,000 to grantees in this financial year for progress on their projects. 
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Environmental Research

Supporting applied research projects that help address environmental problems 
in New South Wales.

Reef restoration
Transitioning from a mobile planktonic state to settlement 
is an important step in the life of a coral. Southern Cross 
University (SCU) wanted to test attachment point theory, 
which suggests that surface microtopography, or the very 
small-scale texture of a surface, affects how well coral 
larvae can attach to it. 

SCU collected part of a wild, multispecies coral spawn slick 
and successfully reared and settled larvae onto a range of 
surface micro-topographies in the National Marine Science 
Centre and on the reef at Lord Howe Island. The surface 
micro-topographies were housed in six lots of settlement 
chambers, each containing four tiles with either 200-, 400-, 
700- or 1000-micrometre circular pits machined into their 
surface, and a completely smooth control tile. They then 
put six different types of coral larvae into the settlement 
chambers to determine which coral grew best on which 
type of surface. Although initial larval settlement was higher 
in other pit sizes, extensive monitoring over 15 months 
showed that survival rates were consistently highest in the 
700-micrometre diameter pits. 

As well as demonstrating the influence of microtopography 
on the likelihood of coral survival, the project has 
contributed important information for reef managers on 
coral reproduction patterns and timing, including new 
spawning records for a range of reef-building scleractinian 
coral species at Lord Howe Island. The findings on the 
suitability of substrate patterns will help inform artificial 
reef design where threats are causing existing reefs to fail. 
NSW environmental agencies are also now better-equipped 
to adaptively manage threats to reef biodiversity, including 
commercially important populations.

Providing around $1 million in contestable grants each year, 
the Environmental Research Program supports projects that 
aim to: 

�� generate new information that will help solve 
environmental problems 

�� discover innovative methods and technologies that will 
reduce environmental impacts of business and industry 

�� support assessments of environmental degradation 

�� increase general awareness of environmental issues.

This year the Trust paid a total of $1,283,785 in milestone 
payments to projects currently in progress within the 
Research program.

Achievements
Eighteen research projects concluded this year. Some of 
the research outcomes are highlighted below.

Air quality
Research by the University of New South Wales (UNSW) 
has improved understanding of the air quality impacts 
of hazard reduction burns in the Sydney region, and 
created the first detailed database listing both wildfires 
and historical hazard reduction burns. UNSW collaborated 
with OEH and the Rural Fire Service (RFS) on the project, 
which is the first to assess diurnal variation of the planetary 
boundary layer height, as well as the effect of cloud cover, 
temperature and wind speed in the burn planning decision-
making process. 

The project found that burning during cooler parts of the 
day leads to particulate matter of less than 2.5 micrometres 
in diameter remaining in the air for longer, which increases 
the chances of humans and animals inhaling them. This 
is because more stable morning and evening conditions 
coincide with nocturnal westerly cold air drainage flows in 
Sydney, which is associated with reduced mixing height 
and vertical dispersion. The project findings suggest that air 
pollution could be reduced by conducting hazard reduction 
burns later in the morning. This finding will be tested in a 
regional climate model in future post-project research. 
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Environmental Research Program outcomes 2013–15

 � C A S E  S T U D Y

How does thinning forest regrowth affect biodiversity?

Thinning to manage regrowth is an established practice 
for forest managers, but to date there has been a lack of 
science on exactly how this affects biodiversity. 

Australia’s largest inland woodland in the Pilliga region of 
north-west New South Wales poses particular challenges 
for land managers. Covering over 535,000 hectares, forest 
regrowth is often dominated by Callitris glaucophylla, or 
native cypress, which regrows to extremely high densities. 
At a landscape scale this density is not good for biodiversity 
as it can prevent other species from growing. For this 
reason, these forests have been thinned since the 1930s.

With funding from the NSW Environmental Trust, a group of 
researchers from NSW DPI studied the short- and long-term 
effects of thinning on vegetation structure and biodiversity. 
The Pilliga forests were ideal for this research because they 
support extensive stands of regrowth cypress that have 
been subject to thinning over many years. The fieldwork 
involved two main types of investigation:

�� a ‘chronosequence’ survey that examined cypress stands 
which had been thinned at different times 

�� comparative ‘before’ and ‘after’ thinning surveys 
observing eight 12-hectare sites (some were thinned in 
two stages and some were control sites). 

While most surveys consider one component of biodiversity, 
this was unique in recording sightings of native animals as 
well as characterising vegetation structure and habitat values 
such as the presence of hollows. 

This $145,340 grant has produced a substantial and 
significant body of work that will benefit foresters, Landcare 
groups, private landholders and government land managers. 
The results are detailed and complex. The effects of thinning 
vary across different forest densities, for different species 
of animals and for different vegetation attributes. The 
findings show that while some thinning can improve tree 
growth and improve habitat for some species, broadscale 
thinning should be avoided. Biodiversity is best supported 
by maintaining some un-thinned regrowth forest and 
providing a patchwork of different forest structures across 
the landscape. 

169 resources  
and articles 
produced including articles 
published in academic journals 
and other scientific publications

Over 198,000 people 

potentially reached by the work 
of these projects so far 

36 innovative 
technologies
 or new methods or approaches 
to previously known work 
generated

Nearly 780 people
contributed, including 34 
tertiary and post-graduate 
students and 317 volunteers

230 scientific 
or technical 
conferences
and other events where the 
research has been presented

Note: This data is drawn from 30 projects that continued 
after being funded in the 2013–15 grant years, with 17 of 
these projects (57%) now complete.
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The Environmental Research Program received 146 
expressions of interest requesting more than $20.4 million 
in funding. From this, 27 applicants were invited to make full 
applications. 

The Trust funded 11 projects totalling $1,566,428 (Table 
15). This represents a 57% increase above the allocated 
funding, however the Trust decided to award this amount 
due to the very high standard of applications received this 
year. 

Together, the 11 Environmental Research Program projects 
funded in the 2017–18 grant year include plans to develop 
at least 27 innovative technologies, or new methods or 
approaches to previous work. The researchers anticipate 
presenting their findings at around 75 technical or scientific 
events, and publishing at least 62 related articles in journals 
and other scientific publications.

Table 15
Environmental Research grants awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Title LGA Amount

CSIRO – Land and Water Flagship A new spatial resilience indicator for NSW ecosystems Statewide $150,000

CSIRO – Land and Water Flagship Compostable plastics in green wastes: the lowdown on their 
breakdown Statewide $150,000

CSIRO – Land and Water Flagship Ecotoxicology of per-/poly-fluorinated alkyl substances in 
sediments Statewide $150,000

Macquarie University Darug Caring-as-Country – creating local environmental 
stewards Statewide $141,024

Macquarie University Scaling up green seawall designs Statewide $149,152

Sydney Institute of Marine Science (SIMS) Adapting to coastal tropicalisation: implications for food 
security Statewide $150,000

University of New England Soil biodiversity benefits from environmental plantings Statewide $149,956

University of Queensland Promoting stewardship: identifying pathways to greater 
participation Statewide $145,868

University of Wollongong Let them eat carotenoids: boosting corroboree frog immunity Statewide $98,379

University of Wollongong Modelling fire risk to fauna Statewide $149,607

Western Sydney University On-site analysis for intelligence gathering at pollution 
incidents Statewide $132,442

Total $1,566,428

This year the Trust paid a total of $1,283,785 in milestone payments to projects currently in progress within the Research 
program.

Environmental Research grants awarded in 
2017–18
Environmental Research grants of up to $150,000 are 
awarded through a competitive two-stage application 
process for projects of up to three years. Each year, 
the prioritisation framework developed by the Natural 
Resources Commission identifies statewide research 
priorities for the program. In 2017–18 these priorities were: 

�� resource management

�� wetlands and river systems

�� landscape management

�� marine, coastal and estuarine ecosystems.
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Improved Systems For Household Problem 
Wastes – Community Recycling Centres 
Program 
This program supports construction of a network of 
community recycling centres (CRCs) across the State 
where residents can bring household ‘problem’ wastes for 
resource recovery, re-use and recycling.

A review of service coverage demonstrated there was a 
major gap in the CRCs network in Sydney and notable gaps 
in some regional centres. Priority local government areas 
were identified for future CRCs and the aim of the current 
and future rounds is to fill these gaps with approximately  
22 new CRCs in the Sydney metropolitan area and three in 
regional areas.

In 2017 the Trust received eight applications seeking 
approximately $2.52 million. Five projects were funded to a 
total of $992,218 (Table 16). 

This year 27 CRCs were officially opened to the public, 
bringing the total number of centres across the State to 
87. In 2017–18 more than 2000 tonnes of problem waste 
including paint, oils, household and car batteries, gas bottles 
and fire extinguishers, fluoro globes and smoke detectors 
were collected from these centres. 

Waste Less, Recycle More Initiative

Delivering waste and recycling services to help communities and businesses 
reduce the amount of waste sent to landfill.

The NSW Government has previously committed $465.7 
million for a range of support packages delivered through 
the Waste Less, Recycle More (WLRM) initiative. 

This year was the first year of funding under the $61.5 
million extension for Trust WLRM grants. This funding, 
along with the EPA’s allocation of $275.5 million, amounts 
to an additional $337 million until 2020–21. Total funding for 
WLRM now comes to around $802 million for the period 
2013–21, making it Australia’s largest waste and recycling 
funding program. 

WLRM is structured into a number of individual funds 
which support one or more contestable grants programs. 
This financial year around $30.5 million in grant funding was 
allocated to 48 waste and recycling projects. Further detail 
on these programs and projects is described in the following 
sections.

Table 16
Community Recycling Centre grants awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Title LGA Amount

Camden Council Camden Council Community Resource Recycling Centre Camden  $199,518 

City of Sydney Council Community Recycling Centre Alexandria Canal Depot Sydney City  $192,700 

Goulburn Mulwaree Council Goulburn Region Community Recycling Centre Goulburn-Mulwaree  $200,000 

Lake Macquarie City Council Lake Macquarie Northeast Community Recycling and Reuse Centre Lake Macquarie  $200,000 

Wagga Wagga City Council Wagga Wagga Community Recycling Centre Wagga Wagga  $200,000 

 Total $992,218

A total of $214,699 was paid to existing grantees for milestones achieved under this program this year. 
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Funded through the Organics Infrastructure Fund, Aero-sorb equipment screens, shreds and 
loads kerbside organic waste to produce a high-quality commercial recycled organic product

Organics Infrastructure Fund 
This fund supports the re-use and recycling of food organics 
and garden organics (FOGO), which make up a large 
percentage of waste to landfill in NSW communities. This 
financial year a total of $5,187,698 was spent in milestone 
payments under this fund. 

Organics Collections Program 
This program assists council and other organisations to 
implement new, or enhance existing, household kerbside 
collection services for garden, food or combined food and 
garden waste. The program increases the diversion of 
separated household organics from landfill. 

This year the Trust received seven applications seeking 
approximately $2 million. All applications were funded (Table 
17) and anticipate providing services to more than 43,500 
households in New South Wales resulting in the diversion 
of over 9000 tonnes of food and garden organics from 
landfill each year.

Table 17
Organics Collection grants awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Title LGA Amount

Bega Valley Shire Council The power of one – individual champions can influence change Bega Valley  $276,400 

Bega Valley Shire Council The value of food Bega Valley  $365,000 

Cumberland Council Greening Cumberland – one bin at a time! Cumberland  $391,450 

Goulburn Mulwaree Council Organics collection service implementation and education program Goulburn-Mulwaree  $549,630 

North East Waste North East Waste FOGO in MUDs Trial* Byron  $88,047 

Orange City Council Model for increasing FOGO uptake in multi-unit dwellings Orange  $87,000 

Port Macquarie-Hastings Council MUDs organics recovery project* Port Macquarie - 
Hastings  $253,600 

 Total $2,011,127

* MUD: multi-unit dwelling
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Organics Infrastructure (Large and Small) 
Program 
This program encourages the re-use or separation and 
recycling of organics from households and businesses 
through four streams: 

�� Stream 1: Organics processing infrastructure

�� Stream 2: Business organics recycling

�� Stream 3: Food donation

�� Stream 4: Product quality (new category).

Uptake of the previous Stream 4: Home composting was 
lower than expected and has now been replaced with 
the product quality stream. Stream 2: Business organics 
recycling was not available this year to allow the EPA to 
address potential overlap with its Bin Trim grants program. 

In the fifth funding round this year, the Trust received 24 
applications seeking approximately $8.67 million across 
Streams 1, 3 and 4. Of these, 15 were successful with a 
combined value of more than $5.2 million (Table 18). 

Over its life, this program has increased the capacity to 
divert over 500,000 additional tonnes of organic wastes 
from landfill in New South Wales each year. Additionally, up 
to 7000 tonnes of good quality food is now being rescued 
and delivered to people in need. 

Table 18
Organics Infrastructure (Large and Small) grants awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Title LGA Amount

Stream 1: Organics processing

Armidale Regional Council Armidale organics processing expansion project Armidale       $208,400 

Loop Organics Pty Ltd Hunter Valley Composting and Processing Facility Singleton        
$496,512 

Muswellbrook Shire Council Muswellbrook Shire Council Organics Recycling Facility Muswellbrook      $500,000 

Newcastle City Council Summerhill Organics Recycling Facility Newcastle City     $1,500,000 

Stream 3: Food donation

Foodbank NSW & ACT Limited Foodbank NSW & ACT increase in capacity to handle rescued food Blacktown  $191,307 

OzHarvest OzHarvest NSW metropolitan food rescue expansion Sydney City  $299,410 

OzHarvest OzHarvest NSW regional food rescue expansion Coffs Harbour  $88,482 

Salvation Army Auburn Auburn food for life food market Cumberland  $56,854 

Stream 4: Product quality

Australian Native Landscapes Pty Ltd Cooranbong decontamination for high product quality Lake Macquarie  $480,360 

Australian Native Landscapes Pty Ltd Kimbriki decontamination unit Northern Beaches  $480,360 

Coolamon Shire Council Coolamon local government area organics processing 
improvement project

Coolamon  $97,565 

JR Richards & Sons AirVac separation of oversize product and contaminants Clarence Valley  $56,626 

Remondis Australia Pty Ltd Port Macquarie Organics Resource Recovery Facility – product 
quality

Port Macquarie - 
Hastings

 $92,136 

Shoalhaven City Council Shoalhaven shredded garden waste product and process 
improvement

Shoalhaven  $188,645 

WormTech Pty Ltd Let's grow with it Murrumbidgee  $477,398 

Total $5,214,055
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Waste and Recycling Infrastructure Fund 
This fund stimulates investment to increase the processing 
capacity of recycling facilities. Priority waste materials for 
recovery are set by the EPA and include paper, cardboard, 
timber, plastics, glass and metals from commercial 
and industrial and municipal waste streams. This year, 
$1,424,402 was spent on milestone payments for projects 
currently in progress under this fund.

Major Resource Recovery Infrastructure Program 
This program reduces waste to landfill by funding major 
resource recovery facilities that increase household and 
business recycling in a cost-effective manner.

Priority is given to proposals that focus on:

�� recovery of recyclables from sorted and unsorted waste 

�� re-use, recycling and reprocessing of plastics, timber, 
paper, tyres, cardboard and consumer packaging

�� processing, stabilisation and energy recovery from 
residual business and household waste.

The Trust received 23 applications to the third funding round 
seeking approximately $83.5 million. Six projects were 
funded to a total of approximately $20.5 million (Table 19). 

Table 19
Major Resource Recovery Infrastructure grants awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Title LGA Amount

Affective Services Australia Pty Ltd Canterbury Road construction and demolition recycling facility Wollongong  $1,932,156 

Albury City Council AWMC C&I and C&D MRF Albury  $2,021,947 

Polytrade Recycling Sydney glass beneficiation plant Strathfield  $4,999,039 

Polytrade Recycling Plastics processing plant Parramatta  $4,999,173 

Remondis Australia Pty Ltd Kurnell resource recovery facility Sutherland  $5,000,000 

Tyrecycle Pty Ltd St Marys rubber crumb and granules facility Penrith  $1,500,000 

Total $20,452,315

 � C A S E  S T U D Y

Shellharbour FOGO

A change to waste laws in 2014 meant that Shellharbour 
City Council had to upgrade its successful FOGO operations 
to meet stricter standards. 

A $1.85-million grant from the Trust’s Organics Infrastructure 
Fund has helped Shellharbour City Council build a 
$6.3-million state-of-the-art organics processing facility at its 
Dunmore Recycling and Waste Disposal Depot. The facility 
replaces an open-air vegetation mulching process with a 
purpose-built fully enclosed ‘tunnel’ with a biofilter that 
captures and treats air to minimise odours. 

The facility is capable of processing up to 26,000 tonnes of 
FOGO a year and diverts 97% of food and garden organic 
waste collected each week. The end product is a soil 
conditioner that can be varied in quality and mix, subject to 
demand. 

Since regular FOGO collection services began in July 2016 
the service has collected over 21,600 tonnes, an increase of 

4900 tonnes compared with the previous two-year period. 
Over this period FOGO waste sent to landfill has decreased 
by over 3500 tonnes, or 69 kilograms per household every 
year. 

With additional funding from the EPA, Shellharbour City 
Council commissioned educational videos on sorting FOGO 
waste, and how processing organics can produce a quality 
product for local use while helping the environment. These 
fun and informative videos appeared on on local TV as well 
as council’s dedicated waste information website. 

Supported by an effective community education campaign, 
in 2017–18 the FOGO processing facility has a 1.2% 
contamination rate compared to a NSW average of 
around 6%. This best-practice facility is a great asset to 
the community and future generations in an area of high 
population growth. 

http://www.shellharbourwaste.com.au/FOGO
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Recycling Innovation Fund
No new grants were awarded under this program, however 
$714,173 in milestone payments were made during this 
financial year. 

Landfill Consolidation and Environmental 
Improvements Grants Program 
This program provides financial support to regional and 
rural local councils for landfill consolidation and closure, and 
environmental improvements to small landfills serving rural 
communities.

The Trust received 24 applications to the third funding round 
seeking approximately $3.2 million. Fifteen projects were 
funded to a total of approximately $1.8 million (Table 20). 

Over the life of this program, completed projects have 
successfully increased security and supervision to prevent 
unauthorised access to sites, installed fencing to limit and 
control litter, built transfer stations and erected educational 
signage. 

A representative of Toxfree explains NSW’s next generation e-waste recycling facility funded through the Major Resource Recovery Infrastructure grants program. All recovered resources are 
sold for re-use.

Business Recycling Program
This program supports small and medium-sized enterprises 
(SMEs) to fund small-scale recycling infrastructure 
and equipment to help improve source separation of 
recyclables, reduce waste and increase recycling in the 
workplace. The program is administered by the EPA.

Bin Trim Grants Program
This year, the Trust provided the EPA with an instalment 
of $2,625,000 to deliver this program which enables 
businesses to engage with waste assessors to obtain 
support and advice on actions and equipment to reduce 
waste and increase recycling. Part of this engagement 
determines the need for small-scale recycling equipment 
and the opportunity for a Bin Trim rebate. 

Since its inception in 2014, this program has provided waste 
assessments for more than 22,000 SMEs and has resulted 
in an average increase in the recycling rate of 13% for 
participating businesses. Overall the program has assisted 
business to divert more than 70,000 tonnes of waste, and 
around 49% of engaged businesses have increased the 
tonnage of waste they have diverted from landfill.
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Table 20
Landfill Consolidation and Environmental Improvements grants awarded in 2017–18

Organisation Title LGA Amount

Stream 1

Carrathool Shire Council Closing and remediating old Carrathool Village Landfill Carrathool $19,200 

Central Darling Shire Council Menindee Waste Facility Central Darling $134,457 

Central Darling Shire Council Ivanhoe Waste Facility Central Darling $63,585 

Cowra Shire Council Woodstock landfill closure and new transfer station Cowra $120,500 

Tamworth Regional Council Closure of Duri landfill and conversion into a transfer station Tamworth $198,800 

Tamworth Regional Council Closure of Somerton landfill and conversion into a transfer station Tamworth $192,620 

Walgett Shire Council Landfill to waste transfer Walgett $200,000 

Western Plains Regional Council* Euchareena Waste Facility – landfill closure and transfer station Dubbo $136,099 

Western Plains Regional Council* Elong Elong Waste Facility landfill closure Dubbo $92,000 

Western Plains Regional Council* Stuart Town Waste Facility – landfill closure and transfer station Dubbo $126,675 

Western Plains Regional Council* Geurie Waste Facility – landfill closure and transfer station Dubbo $97,416 

Western Plains Regional Council* Mumbil Waste Facility – landfill closure and transfer station Dubbo $134,892 

Stream 2

Brewarrina Shire Council Goodooga Waste Facility – environmental improvements Brewarrina $22,143 

Central Darling Shire Council Wilcannia Waste Facility Central Darling $200,000 

Narrabri Shire Council Narrabri landfill environmental protection project Narrabri $101,153 

 Total $1,839,540

*Note: Western Plains Regional Council is now known as Dubbo Regional Council.

Milestone payments valued at $67,643 were made during this financial year. 
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views by teachers and students who were logged into 
WilderQuest in 2017–18.

This year saw the program commence development of its 
new teacher professional learning modules, and the Ranger 
Vision app has been downloaded 49,064 times in the past 
12 months. Thousands of students and teachers have 
viewed the Aboriginal Campfire 360-degree videos, which 
feature NPWS Aboriginal Discovery rangers sharing stories 
and lessons from six different NSW locations. The videos 
received the OEH Chief Executive Excellence in Innovation 
Award. 

The program has also continued to expand its reach by 
engaging widely with the public through events such as 
NAIDOC Week, NPWS 50th anniversary celebrations and 
Science Week 2017 at the Australian Museum Science 
Festival. 

Brand campaign for young adults
This was the final year of the brand campaign project which 
addressed the challenge of engaging younger people with 
nature and the environment. The project aimed to raise 
awareness of NSW national parks experiences, support 
sustainable participation in national parks and appreciation 
of conservation and nature. The project delivered a highly 
successful social media campaign to engage young 
adults with images and experiences in national parks. The 
program’s Instagram following grew from around 100 to 
more than 41,000 as a result, and it achieved wide-reaching 
Facebook coverage, with a reach of 2.9 million. Videos 
made for the project attracted more than 3.5 million views, 
and the program’s blog received almost 324,000 unique 
users who accessed information on NSW national parks.

Other Waste and Environment Programs

The Trust manages a range of other waste and environment 
programs that are funded from the NSW Government’s 
Waste Levy. Programs funded in 2017–18 focused on 
protecting threatened species, engaging children with nature 
and improving organic waste outputs. 

During 2017–18 the Trust spent $288,000 on milestone 
payments for existing grantees.

Alternative waste treatment – mixed waste 
organic outputs trial
This Trust-funded research has produced a dataset that is 
unparalleled in Australia or internationally on the composition 
and effects of mixed waste organic outputs (MWOO) when 
used as a soil amendment.

It addressed knowledge gaps and scientific uncertainties 
on the composition of organic outputs produced from 
mixed household waste, and examined its effect on the 
environment and human health when applied to land.

Through the project, the EPA has gained significant 
information quantifying the impacts of MWOO on 
agricultural production and soil health compared with other 
organic amendments and current agricultural practice. 

Grow Sustainable Nature Based Tourism

WilderQuest Learning 
2017–18 was the third year of WilderQuest Learning, 
which has continued to engage teachers and students with 
nature through its teaching program. By the year’s end, 
691 teachers and 3113 students from 461 schools in New 
South Wales had registered to use WilderQuest Learning 
online. The program’s website reached 51,477 unique page 
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So far the program has protected more than 661 hectares 
of high conservation value land across 19 western Sydney 
locations.

In 2017–18 the total project revenue was $19,741,426, 
including $17,570,000 from the Trust. Program funds 
were used to purchase biodiversity credits from three 
existing biobank sites and six new biobank sites that occur 
within the program’s first-preference investment areas. 
Total funding has led to the protection of 93 hectares of 
threatened vegetation.

Winbourne, a new 20 hectare biobank site, was established 
in May 2018 at Mulgoa and is owned by the Christian 
Brothers who now run a retreat and conference centre on 
the site. 

The biobank site contains four endangered ecological 
communities including 4.6 hectares of critically endangered 
Cumberland Plain Woodland and 12.6 hectares of critically 
endangered Shale Sandstone Transition Forest. The site 
provides valuable habitat for a range of native animals, 
including several threatened species. 

The native vegetation on the site is in a variety of 
conditions, ranging from highly disturbed riparian forest 
through to good condition Cumberland Plain Woodland. 
Most of the site has been previously grazed by cattle and 
is under threat from invasion by several weeds including 
lantana, privet and exotic grasses. 

Under the biobanking agreement, landowners can continue 
to use the bushland for passive recreation but will be unable 
to develop or use the site for grazing. They are responsible 
for managing the biodiversity on the site by removing 
rubbish, installing new fences, controlling weeds and feral 
animals, and revegetating previously grazed land. 

Warnervale Town Centre 
The Trust previously awarded $4.4 million to the Warnervale 
Town Centre Biodiversity Offset Program for biodiversity 
offsets relating to the development of Warnervale Town 
Centre in the Wyong local government area. This is to offset 
the impacts of development over the next 10 to 20 years on 
a number of plant communities and species, including the 
vulnerable heath wrinklewort (Rutidosis heterogama) and 
wallum froglet (Crinia tinnula). 

The biodiversity certification assessment calculated that 
2233 ecosystem credits and 2508 species credits would 
need to be retired, which equates to the conservation of 
approximately 270 hectares.

This year, the Trust decided to transfer administration of the 
program to the BCT, effective from 1 July 2018. OEH worked 
collaboratively with the BCT to manage the transition and to 
investigate the potential purchase of several land parcels to 
fulfil offset obligations. 

Unspent program funds will be transferred to the BCT in 
the 2018–19 financial year.

Biobanking Trust Fund
The Biodiversity Banking and Offsets Scheme (BioBanking 
scheme) allows for the negotiation of long-term 
conservation agreements (biobanking agreements) between 
landowners and the Minister for the Environment. 

The BioBanking Trust Fund receives funds from each 
biodiversity credit sale, which are then invested in the 
TCorp Investment Management Fund. Annual management 
payments are then made to biobank site owners to improve 
the biodiversity value of their land. 

The Trust has managed the BioBanking Trust Fund since 
2008. However, the Trust’s role in managing the fund was 
transferred to the recently established NSW Biodiversity 
Conservation Trust (BCT) on 25 August 2017.

As at 25 August 2017, the fund held investments for 55 
biobank sites, valued at $61.09 million (Table 21). 

Table 21
BioBanking Trust Fund 2017–18

Details                                                                      Amount $’000

Cash balance at the beginning of the financial year $60,776

Receipts by the BioBanking Trust Fund (no GST) $604

Return on invested funds $175

Annual management payments  
(including OEH management fee) -$301

Administration fee (NSW Environmental Trust) -$160

Balance on transfer to NSW Biodiversity 
Conservation Trust as at 25 August 2017 -$61,094

Closing balance $0

Growth Centres Biodiversity Offset Program 
The Growth Centres Biodiversity Offset Program aims to 
preserve some of the best remaining bushland in western 
Sydney. Program funds are used to acquire land from willing 
landowners for new reserves, to purchase biodiversity 
credits from existing biobank sites, or to establish new 
biobank sites with willing landowners and purchase the 
biodiversity credits created by these. Program funds can 
only be spent within identified priority areas.

In 2017–18, the Trust agreed to transfer the Growth Centres 
Biodiversity Offset Program to the BCT. The Trust approved 
a two-stage transfer of the program whereby the Trust will 
continue to fund and govern the program in 2018–19, under 
a grant to the BCT, while long-term program governance 
is negotiated with the Australian Government. By 30 June 
2019, the program’s funds are expected to be transferred to 
the BCT and OEH. 

BioBanking Trust Fund and Offset Programs
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Other Trust Programs

Lead Environmental Community Groups
The Trust provides funding to eligible, peak, non-government 
organisations (NGOs) to deliver community education or 
capacity-building activities which protect and conserve the 
NSW environment. The Lead Environmental Community 
Groups program assists peak NGOs to involve the 
community in protecting and enhancing their environment, 
improving community understanding and ownership of their 
environment, and empowering the community to deliver 
activities that support the government’s environmental 
objectives.

The Lead Environmental Community Groups program is 
divided into two funding streams. Stream 1 offers funding 
of $20,000 to $80,000 a year for larger NGOs, while Stream 
2 targets smaller groups seeking less than $20,000 a year. 

Fifteen organisations were awarded two-year grants in 
2015 –16 and therefore no new grants were awarded this 
year. A new round is anticipated in 2018–19. The Trust spent 
a total of $60,000 to support existing grantees in 2017–18.

Dissemination 
The Dissemination Program builds capacity in environmental 
protection through communicating the success, knowledge 
and tools of completed grant projects to a wider audience. 

The Dissemination Program is currently being redesigned. 
No new projects were awarded this year, however, the Trust 
spent $18,747 in final payments to existing grantees.
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Finance
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Environmental Trust

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament

Opinion
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Environmental Trust (the Trust), which 
comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2018, the Statement of 
Financial Position as at 30 June 2018, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and 
other explanatory information.

In my opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Trust as at 30 June 2018, and of its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards

• are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015.

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report.

Basis for Opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’
section of my report.

I am independent of the Trust in accordance with the requirements of the:

• Australian Auditing Standards
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110).

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110.

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by:

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services.

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.
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Other Information
Other information comprises the information included in the Trust’s annual report for the year ended 
30 June 2018, other than the financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The 
Trustees are responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, 
the other information I have received comprise the Statement signed by the members of the Trust 
pursuant to Section 41C of the PF&A Act.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact.

I have nothing to report in this regard.

The Trustees’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act, and for such internal control as 
the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Trust’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting except where the Trust will be dissolved by an Act of Parliament or 
otherwise cease operations.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
My objectives are to:

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements.

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report.

My opinion does not provide assurance:

• that the Trust carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically
• about the assumptions used in formulating the budget figures disclosed in the financial 

statements
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 

statements on any website where they may be presented
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements.

Reiky Jiang
Director, Financial Services

18 September 2018
SYDNEY
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BEGINNING OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ENVIRONMENTAL TRUST

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Actual 
2018

$’000

Budget 
2018

$’000

Actual 
2017

$’000Notes

Expenses excluding losses

Operating expenses                                                                      2(a) 4,114 4,155 3,832

Grants and subsidies                                                                                    2(b) 47,930 84,234 58,261

Total expenses excluding losses 52,044 88,389 62,093

Revenue

Grants and other contributions    3(a) 47,420 87,162 58,800

Other income                                                                                            3(b) 4,732 1,000 1,427

Total revenue 52,152 88,162 60,227

Net result 108 (227) (1,866)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 108 (227) (1,866)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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ENVIRONMENTAL TRUST

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

 Notes

Actual
2018

$'000

Budget 
2018

$'000

Actual
2017

$'000

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5 3,301 1,568 2,934

Receivables 6 379 1,636 671

Total current assets  3,680 3,204 3,605

Total assets 3,680 3,204 3,605

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 7 357 241 390

Total current liabilities 357 241 390

Total liabilities 357 241 390

Net assets 3,323 2,963 3,215

EQUITY

Accumulated funds 3,323 2,963 3,215

Total equity 3,323 2,963 3,215

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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ENVIRONMENTAL TRUST

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Accumulated 
Funds

$'000

Total

$'000

Balance at 1 July 2017 3,215 3,215

Net result for the period 108 108

Total other comprehensive income – –

Balance at 30 June 2018 3,323 3,323

Balance at 1 July 2016 5,081 5,081

Net result for the period (1,866) (1,866)

Total other comprehensive income – –

Balance at 30 June 2017 3,215 3,215

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

ENVIRONMENTAL TRUST 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

  Notes

Actual
2018

$'000

Budget 
2018

$'000

Actual
2017

$'000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Grants and subsidies (47,959) (84,234) (58,112)

Other (5,315) (4,566) (6,083)

Total payments (53,274) (88,800) (64,195)

Receipts

Grants and other contributions 47,420 87,162 58,800

Other 6,221 1,000 4,095

Total receipts 53,641 88,162 62,895

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 12 367 (638) (1,300)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 367 (638) (1,300)

Opening cash and cash equivalents 2,934 2,206 4,234

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 5 3,301 1,568 2,934

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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ENVIRONMENTAL TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a) Reporting Entity

The Environmental Trust (the Trust), is a NSW government entity, as constituted by the Environmental Trust Act 1998, and is a reporting 
entity under the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983. 

The Trust is an independent statutory body established by the NSW government to fund a broad range of organisations to undertake 
projects that enhance the environment of NSW. The Trust is empowered under the Environmental Trust Act 1998, and its main 
responsibility is to make and supervise the expenditure of grants. The Trust is administered by the Office of Environment and Heritage 
(OEH).

The Trust is chaired by the NSW Minister for the Environment. Members of the Trust are the Chief Executive of OEH, and representatives 
from local government, the Nature Conservation Council of NSW and NSW Treasury.

The Trust is a going concern and a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective) with no cash generating units. The reporting 
entity is consolidated as part of the NSW Total State Sector Accounts.

The Trust’s financial statements have been authorised for issue on 17 September 2018.

(b) Basis of Preparation

The Trust’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared on an accruals basis and in accordance 
with:

• applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations); 

• the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015; and

• Financial Reporting Directions mandated by the Treasurer.

Financial statement items are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except where specified otherwise.

Judgements, key assumptions and estimates made by management are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency, which is the Trust’s presentation 
and functional currency.

(c) Statement of compliance

The financial statements and notes comply with the Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Accounting Interpretations.

(d) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except that the:

• amount of GST incurred by the Trust as a purchaser, that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office, is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense, and

• receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. 

(e) Comparative information

Except when an Australian Accounting Standard permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is disclosed in respect of the 
previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements. 

In the 2016-17 year, operations of the Trust were disclosed against two service groups – competitive grants and major projects. 
Commencing from 2017-18, service groups have been replaced by program groups in the Budget Papers. The total operations of the Trust 
contribute to the program ‘environmental and heritage trusts’. 

The 2016-17 actual numbers against the two service groups are not disclosed in these statements. Refer note 4.

(f) Insurance

A range of insurances are carried by OEH with the New South Wales Treasury Managed fund. This coverage extends to the operations of 
the Trust. Insurance cover is reviewed annually to ensure adequacy.

(g) Budgeted amounts

The budgeted amounts are drawn from the original budgeted financial statements presented to Parliament in respect of the reporting 
period. Subsequent amendments to the original budget (e.g. adjustment for transfer of functions between entities as a result of 
Administrative Arrangements Orders or approved budget proposals) are not reflected in the budgeted amounts. Major variances between 
the original budgeted amounts and the actual amounts disclosed in the primary financial statements are explained in note 10.
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(h) Equity and reserves – accumulated funds

The category ‘accumulated funds’ includes all current and prior period retained funds.

(i) Changes in accounting policy, including new or revised Australian Accounting Standards  

Issued but not yet effective:

NSW public sector entities are not permitted to early adopt new Australian Accounting Standards, unless Treasury determines otherwise.

The following new Australian Accounting Standards have not been applied and are not yet effective (NSW Treasury mandate TC 18/01):

• AASB 9 financial instruments

• AASB 15, AASB 2014-5, AASB 2015-8 and 2016-3 regarding revenue from contracts with customers

• AASB 1058 income of not-for-profit entities

• AASB 1059 service concession arrangements: grantors

• AASB 2016-7 amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – deferral of AASB 15 for not-for-profit entities

• AASB 2016-8 amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian implementation guidance for not-for-profit entities

These standards have been assessed for their possible impact on the financial statements, if any, in the period of their initial application. 
The assessment concluded that except for new disclosures that may be required under AASB 9 financial instruments, the new standards 
are not likely to have any material impact. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018

2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES

Recognition and measurement of key expense items are discussed separately below.

(a) Other operating expenses
2018 

$'000
2017 

$'000

Auditor's remuneration – audit of the financial statements 35 35

Corporate and specialist support 3,603 3,240

Advertising, printing and publishing 24 23

Fees for services 441 448

Impairment of assets and bad debts – 78

Travel 7 7

Other 4 1

4,114 3,832

Recognition and measurement – key “other operating expenses”

Corporate and specialist support

Specialist and administrative services, including administration of grants are provided by OEH. The Trust also reimburses OEH for its 
share of corporate services that are provided by the Department of Planning and Environment. The fair value of corporate and specialist 
services is charged to the Trust under a Service Agreement with OEH.

(b) Grants and subsidies 2018 
$'000

2017 
$'000

Federal Government 288 310

State and Local Governments 38,994 36,837

Other* 8,648 21,114

47,930 58,261

* Grants to others were lower in the 2017-18 financial year primarily due to "Waste Less Recycle More" grants reallocated to future 
years for consistency with the spend profile of grantees and due to the completion of community programs in 2016-17, including "Small-
Scale Community Bush Regeneration". 

Recognition and measurement – grants and subsidies

Grants are generally recognised as expense when the Trust transfers control of the contribution. The Trust is deemed to have transferred 
control when the grant is paid or is payable.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018

3. REVENUE

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable. Accounting policies for key revenue items are 
disclosed separately below.

(a) Grants and other contributions
2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

NSW Government funding * 47,420 58,800

47,420 58,800

*The Government funding is received through the Department of Planning and Environment.

Recognition and measurement – grants and other contributions

Grants received from the Department of Planning and Environment, which is the principal department in the cluster and contributions 
from other bodies (including grants and donations) are generally recognised as income when the Trust obtains control over the 
contribution. The Trust is deemed to have assumed control when the grant is received or is receivable.

(b) Other income
2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Fund manager fees 22 138

Fines (Court awarded) 356 –

Refunds by grantees of unspent grants 4,354 1,289

4,732 1,427

Recognition and measurement  

(i) Refunds by grantees of unspent grants

Refunds are recognised by the Trust in the period in which the unspent grant amounts by grantees gets identified by or advised to the 
Trust through the grant acquittal process.

(ii) Fines (Court awarded)

Fines are recognised in the period in which the Land and Environment Court orders payment of fine to the Environmental Trust for an 
environmental offence.

4. PROGRAM GROUP DESCRIPTION 

The operations of the Trust contributes to the following program group:

Environmental and heritage trusts 

The Environmental and heritage trust program is delivered by the Environmental Trust, Historic Houses Trust and Taronga Conservation 
Society Australia. These agencies deliver grant funding for environmental programs, maintain and interpret historic places, and maintain and 
control zoological parks. These services celebrate Sydney’s living history and play a vital role in environmental conservation, research and 
education.

Since the total operations of the Trust contribute to the above program, separate program group statements are not required. Refer note 1(e).

� �

5. CURRENT ASSETS – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 3,301 2,934

3,301 2,934

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank.

Cash and cash equivalent assets recognised in the statement of financial position are reconciled at the end of the financial year to the 
statement of cash flows as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents (per statement of financial position) 3,301 2,934

Cash and cash equivalents (per statement of cash flows) 3,301 2,934

Refer note 13 for details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising from financial instruments
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018

6. CURRENT ASSETS – RECEIVABLES 

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Trade debtors 102 84

Less: Allowance for impairment (78) (78)

Accrued income 133 138

GST receivable 222 527

379 671

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Movement in the allowance for impairment � �

Balance at 1 July 2017 78 –

Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in profit or loss – 78

Balance at 30 June 2018 78 78

Details regarding credit risk of trade debtors that are neither past due or impaired, are disclosed in note 13.

Recognition and measurement – receivables 

All purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Purchases or sales are purchases or sales 
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.  

Receivables, including trade receivables, prepayments etc. are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market.  

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent measurement is at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Changes are recognised in the net result for the year when impaired, 
derecognised or through the amortisation process.  

Short term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is 
immaterial.  

Impairment 

Receivables are subject to an annual review for impairment. These are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as 
a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows have been 
affected.

The Trust first assesses whether impairment exists individually for receivables that are individually significant, or collectively for those 
that are not individually significant. Further, receivables are assessed for impairment on a collective basis if they were assessed not to be 
impaired individually.

The amount allowed for impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the net result for the year.

Any reversals of impairment losses are reversed through the net result for the year, if objectively related to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised. Reversals of impairment losses cannot result in a carrying amount that exceeds what the carrying amount would 
have been had there not been an impairment loss.

7. CURRENT LIABILITIES – PAYABLES 

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Creditors 41 44

Accrued expenses 316 346

357 390

Details regarding liquidity risk, including a maturity analysis of the above payables, are disclosed in note 13.

Recognition and measurement – payables

Payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Trust and other amounts. Payables are recognised initially at fair value, 
usually based on the transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  
Short-term payables with no stated interest are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial.  
Gains and losses are recognised in net result when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018

8. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

There were no commitments as at 30 June 2018 (2017 – nil).

9.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

There were no contingent liabilities nor contingent assets as at 30 June 2018 (2017 - nil).

10. BUDGET REVIEW

The budgeted amounts are drawn from the original budgeted financial statements presented to Parliament in respect of the reporting period. 
Subsequent amendments to the original budget (e.g. adjustment for transfer of functions between entities as a result of Administrative 
Arrangements Orders) are not reflected in the budgeted amounts. Major variances between the original budgeted amounts and the actual 
amounts disclosed in the primary financial statements are explained below.

(a) Net result

The actual net surplus of $0.1 million was higher by $0.3 million than the budgeted deficit of ($0.2 million). Under expenditure of $36.3 
million was offset by lower than budgeted revenue of $36.0 million. Major expense and revenue variances were due to:

$ million

Expenses:

 – Reduction in government funded grant expenses primarily under the waste less recycle more program due to 
delays in obtaining development and licencing approvals relating to large infrastructure projects. As part of the 
2018-19 State Budget process, the Trust obtained approval to reallocate majority of these grants to future years 39.7

 – Additional grant expenditure on waste related programs funded by unspent grants returned by grantees. (3.4)

Total variances in expenses 36.3

Revenue:

 – Higher than budgeted refunds of unspent grants by grantees mainly due to their under expenditure and receipt 
of Court awarded fine, that was not budgeted. 3.7

 – Reallocation of government funding to future years to correspond with the timing of expenses reallocated 
through the State Budget process (refer above). (39.7)

Total variances in revenue (36.0)

Variance in net result 0.3

(b) Assets and liabilities

There was no material variance between the actual and budgeted net assets.

(c) Cash flows

Net increase in cash of $0.4 million in 2017-18 is higher than the budgeted net reduction of $0.6 million by $1 million. This is mainly due to 
lower than budgeted receivables net of higher payables.

11. BIOBANKING TRUST FUND 

Since July 2008, the Trust has been the Fund Manager for the BioBanking Trust Fund pursuant to section 127ZY(1) of the Threatened Species 
Conservation Act 1995. The Trust’s appointment as a BioBanking Trust Fund Manager concluded on 25 August 2017 with the commencement of 
the Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016. Management of BioBanking Trust Fund, now known as Biodiversity Stewardship Payments Fund, was 
transferred to the Biodiversity Conservation Trust. A total of 55 biobanking sites were transferred on 25 August 2017.

2018 
$'000

2017 
$'000

Cash balance at the beginning of the financial year 60,776 50,752

Add: receipts by the BioBanking Trust 604 9,660

Add: Interest on invested BioBanking Trust funds 175 3,927

Less: annual management payments (301) (3,445)

Less: fund manager fee to the Trust (160) (118)

Balance on transfer to Biodiversity Conservation Trust at 25 August 2017 (61,094) –

Closing balance                –      60,776
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018

12.  RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO NET RESULT

2018 
$'000

2017 
$'000

Net cash used on operating activities 367 (1,300)

(Increase)/decrease in creditors 33 (188)

(Decrease)/increase in receivables (292) (378)

Net Result 108 (1,866)

13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Trust’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the Trust’s operations or are 
required to finance the Trust’s operations. The Trust does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, 
for speculative purposes.

The Trust’s main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the Trust’s objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.

The Trust has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and agrees policies for managing each 
of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Trust, to set risk limits and controls and 
to monitor risks. 

(a) Financial Instrument Categories

Financial Assets Note Category Carrying amount Carrying amount

2018 
$'000

2017 
$'000

Class:

Cash and cash equivalents 5 N/A 3,301 2,934

Receivables1 6
Loans and receivables 

(at amortised cost) 157 144

3,458 3,079

Financial liabilities Note Category Carrying amount Carrying amount

2018 
$'000

2017 
$'000

Class:

Payables2 7
Financial liaibilities 
(at amortised cost) 357 390

357 390

Notes

1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within scope of AASB 7).

2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within scope of AASB 7).

The Trust determines the classification of its financial assets and liabilities after initial recognition and, when allowed and appropriate, 
re-evaluates this at each financial year end.

(b) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire; or if the Trust transfers the 
financial asset:

• where substantially all the risks and rewards have been transferred; or

• where the Trust has not transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, if the Trust has not retained control.

Where the Trust has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred control, the asset continues to be 
recognised to the extent of the Trust’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Trust also recognises an associated liability. The 
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Trust has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying 
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Trust could be required to repay.
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A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the net result.

(c) Financial risks     

(i) Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility that the Trust’s debtors will default on their contractual obligations, resulting in a financial 
loss to the Trust. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets (net of any 
allowance for impairment).

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Trust, including cash, receivables, and authority deposits. No collateral is held by the 
Trust. The Trust has not granted any financial guarantees.

Credit risk associated with the Trust’s financial assets, other than receivables, is managed through the selection of counterparties and 
establishment of minimum credit rating standards.

Cash

Cash comprises bank balances within the NSW Treasury Banking System.

Receivables and trade debtors

All trade debtors are recognised as amounts receivable at balance date. Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Procedures as established in the Treasurer’s Directions are followed to recover outstanding amounts, including letters of demand. Debts which 
are known to be uncollectible are written off. An allowance for impairment is raised when there is objective evidence that the Trust will not be 
able to collect all amounts due. This evidence includes past experience, and current and expected changes in economic conditions and debtor 
credit ratings. No interest is earned on trade debtors. Sales are made on 30 day terms.

The Trust is not materially exposed to concentrations of credit risk to a single trade debtor or group of debtors. Most debtors have a good credit 
rating. 

The only financial assets that are past due or impaired are ‘sales of goods and services’ in the ‘receivables’ category of the statement of 
financial position.

$’000 $’000 $’000

Total 1,2
Neither past due  

nor impaired
Past due but not  

impaired 1,2
Considered  
impaired 1,2

At 30 June 2018 �

< 3 months overdue 24 19 5 –

3 months – 6 months overdue – – – –

> 6 months overdue 78 – – 78

At 30 June 2017

< 3 months overdue 28 6 – 22

3 months – 6 months overdue – – – –

> 6 months overdue 56 – – 56

Notes

1. Each column in the table reports ‘gross receivables’.

2. The ageing analysis excludes statutory receivables as these are not within the scope of AASB 7. Therefore, the ‘total’ will not reconcile to 
the receivables total recognised in the statement of financial position and note 6.

(ii)   Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Trust will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The Trust continuously manages risk 
through monitoring future cash flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate holding of high quality liquid assets. The objective is to 
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of overdrafts, loans and other advances.

During the current and prior year, there were no defaults of loans payable. No assets have been pledged as collateral. The Trust’s exposure to 
liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.   

The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced. Amounts owing 
to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC 11/12. For small business suppliers, where 
terms are not specified, payment is made not later than 30 days from date of receipt of a correctly rendered invoice. For other suppliers, if 
trade terms are not specified, payment is made no later than the end of the month following the month in which an invoice or a statement is 
received. For small business suppliers, where payment is not made within the specified time period, simple interest must be paid automatically 
unless an existing contract specifies otherwise. For payments to other suppliers, the Head of an authority (or a person appointed by the Head of 
an authority) may automatically pay the supplier simple interest. The applicable rate of interest for the period was 9.8% (2017: 9.8%). 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the entity’s financial liabilities, together with the interest rate exposure.
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Maturity analysis and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities

$’000
Interest Rate Exposure

$’000
Maturity Dates

At 30  
June 2018

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest rate

Nominal 
amount1

Fixed 
interest 
rate

Variable 
interest 
rate

Non-
interest 
bearing < 1 year 1-5 years > 5 years

Payables: N/A 357 N/A N/A 357 357 – –

At 30 
June 2017   

Payables: N/A 390 N/A N/A 390 390  – –

Notes

1. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which 
the Trust can be required to pay.

(iii)   Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. 
The Trust has no exposure to foreign currency risk and does not enter into commodity contracts.

The effect on profit and equity due to a reasonably possible change in risk variable is outlined in the information below, for interest 
rate risk and other price risk. A reasonably possible change in risk variable has been determined after taking into account the economic 
environment in which the Trust operates and the time frame for the assessment (i.e. until the end of the next annual reporting period). The 
sensitivity analysis is based on risk exposures in existence at the statement of financial position date. The analysis is performed on the 
same basis as for 30 June 2017. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

Interest Rate Risk

Exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily through the Trust’s interest-bearing liabilities. Under the Treasury banking system, the Trust does 
not earn any interest. The Trust does not account for any fixed rate financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss or as available-for-
sale. Therefore, for these financial instruments, a change in interest rates would not affect profit or loss or equity. The basis will be reviewed 
annually and amended where there is a structural change in the level of interest rate volatility. 

(d)   Fair value compared to carrying amount

Financial instruments are generally recognised at cost.

14. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

a) Key management personnel are those persons who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of 
the Trust, directly or indirectly.       

The Trust’s key management personnel compensation is as follows:     

2018 
$

2017 
$

Trust sitting fees                  330    550

   Salaries                     –                 –      

   Other monetary allowances                     –                 –      

   Non-monetary benefits                     –                 –      

Other long-term employee benefits                     –                 –      

Post-employment benefits
��������������������

–      
�����������

–      

Termination benefits                     –                 –      

Total                  330    550
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Trust sitting fees are paid to the members of the Trust, who are external to the NSW government agencies.   

The key management personnel compensation excludes the Minister for the Environment and Minister for Heritage, as well as the Chief 
Executive of OEH who is the Secretary of the Trust. Ministerial compensation is paid by the NSW Legislature, not the Trust. No compensation 
is paid by the Trust to the Secretary.       

Based on advice provided by KMPs and NSW Treasury, and transactional reviews undertaken, the Trust did not enter into any transactions with 
key management personnel, their close family members and any entities controlled or jointly controlled thereof during the year. 

b) During the year, the Trust entered into transactions, mainly payments of grants, with other agencies that are controlled/jointly controlled/
significantly influenced by the NSW Government. 

Grants payments allow the Trust to meet its objectives as disclosed in its program group (refer note 4) and grants to the NSW government 
agencies in aggregate are a significant component of its operations (refer note 2b). In 2017-18, total grants in the amount of $25.6 million 
were paid to OEH, whose Chief Executive is also the Secretary of the Trust. The Trust members approve the award of grants to recipients 
based on documented processes and procedures, which include evidence-based supports such as grant guidelines, application forms, 
business cases, business plans and independent technical reviews. Where a grant application from OEH is identified, a conflict of interest is 
disclosed by the Secretary of the Trust at the meeting, which is minuted. The Secretary of the Trust refrains from voting in these instances.                                                                                                                                      
In 2017-18 the Trust also paid $3.6 million to OEH for specialist and administrative services as well as its share of corporate services. The fair 
value of these services is charged to the Trust under a Service Agreement with OEH and disclosed in note 2(a).

The Trust receives government funding as a recurrent grant through the cluster department - Department of Planning and Environment. Refer 
note 3(a).

15. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no known events that would impact on the state of affairs of the Trust or have a material impact on the financial statements.

End of Audited Financial Statements
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Appendices
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Under the Environmental Trust Act, grants should be 
expended within three years after they are made. Projects 
may be delayed, however, due to environmental conditions, 
complexities of approvals, personal circumstances of 
grantees and opportunities that may arise from extending 
a project. In cases such as these, the Trust may grant an 
extension to maximise environmental outcomes. These 
extensions are approved by the Trust or under delegation. 

This year, under section 15(5) of the Environmental Trust 
Act, the Trust waived the condition of requiring a grant to be 
expended within three years for the following grants:

�� Armidale Dumaresq Council – Community recycling 
centre upgrading and modification

�� Australian Museum – Koalas: Applying conservation 
genomics to manage an iconic species

�� Blayney Shire Council – Revive! Rehabilitation of the 
Belubula River at Pound Flat

�� Boral Cement Limited – Boral Berrima cement kiln 
alternative fuel

�� Byron Creek Catchment Landcare Group Inc. – Riparian 
restoration in Byron Creek’s upper catchment

�� Central Coast Council – Mt Alison reserve rehabilitation 
and management

�� Central Tablelands Landcare Inc. – Stepping stones 
through our endangered grassy woodlands

�� Charles Sturt University – Using agronomic principles for 
understorey restoration

�� Coffs Harbour City Council – Roberts Hill koala corridor 
restoration

�� Coonamble Shire Council – NetWaste Region – 
Coonamble Community Recycling Centre

Administration of the Trust

Statement of affairs

Indicators of activity of administering the Trust

� 2016–17 2017–18

Total expenditure on environmental initiatives and support $62 million $52 million

Number of contestable programs and other small grant programs running 23 23

Number of major programs and projects running 27 27

Number of new contestable grant projects approved 197 226

Number of applications / expressions of interest processed 779 980

Number of grant payments processed 601 497

Number of pollution clean-up payments, large-scale pollution and emergency pollution grants 44 35

�� Dubbo City Council – Dubbo regional organics processing 
plant

�� Dubbo Regional Council – Kerbside organics collection 

�� Dundundra Falls Reserve Trust – Restoration and 
rehabilitation of riparian zones and Dundundra Falls 
endangered ecological community

�� Eurobodalla Shire Council – Removing threats and 
improving resilience of Eurobodalla dunes

�� Gosford City Council – Restoration of sand dunes at 
Wamberal, Putty and Umina beaches, Gosford

�� Great Lakes Council – TWMC master plan Stage 1: 
Community recycling centre

�� Greater Taree City Council – Dawson River coastal 
wetland rehabilitation project, Taree

�� Griffith City Council – Construction of improved waste 
handling and disposal at Yenda Waste Management 
Centre

�� Hat Head Dunecare – Managing vegetation interface of 
Crown and private land (Hat Head)

�� Holroyd City Council – Special waste mobile service

�� Hurstville City Council – St George recycling centre

�� Kyogle Council – Closure, Woodenbong landfill

�� Kyogle Council – Woodenbong Waste Transfer Station

�� Lord Howe Island Board – The tide is turning – driving 
weed eradication on Lord Howe Island

�� Macdonald Valley Association Inc. – Rescue the future – 
restoring the Macdonald Valley ecosystem

�� Macleay Landcare Network Inc. – Protecting and 
connecting coastal habitat corridors at Mt Yarrahapinni
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�� Maitland City Council – Construction of community 
problem waste recycling centre

�� Marrickville Council – Marrickville Council Community 
Recycling Centre

�� Mid-Western Regional Council – Organics collection 
system

�� Murray Shire Council – Introduction of FOGO collection 
system for Murray Shire Council

�� Muswellbrook Shire Council – Problem wastes drop-off 
at Muswellbrook waste and recycling centre

�� Narromine Shire Council – Organics collection system

�� Newcastle City Council – Summerhill small vehicle 
receival centre expansion

�� NSW Environment Protection Authority – Alternative 
waste treatment: mixed waste organic outputs trial

�� NSW Environment Protection Authority – Bin Trim 
Rebates Program (Small-scale Recycling Infrastructure 
Rebate Program)

�� NSW Environment Protection Authority – Reform of 
forestry regulation and mapping of threatened ecological 
communities and koala habitat

�� NSW Office of Water – A freshwater toxic algal bloom 
resource kit to improve monitoring

�� Office of Environment and Heritage – Classification and 
mapping of native vegetation communities in NSW

�� Office of Environment and Heritage – Building resilience 
to climate change grants 

�� Office of Environment and Heritage – NPWS 
Commercial Tour Operator Small Grant Program, 
(National Landscapes) Sustainable Nature Based Tourism

�� Office of Environment and Heritage – WilderQuest 
Learning

�� Office of Environment and Heritage – Historic precinct 
and endangered ecological community headland 
rehabilitation

�� Office of Environment and Heritage, NPWS – 
Rehabilitation of a Coolibah Woodland in the Macquarie 
Marshes

�� 1 Million Women – 1 Million Women NSW community 
network

�� Parkes Shire Council – Organics collection system

�� Shellharbour City Council – Dunmore resource recovery 
redevelopment

�� Shellharbour City Council – Dunmore resource recovery 
redevelopment – organics processing facility

�� Shoalhaven City Council – Swan Lake estuary 
environmental and cultural restoration project

�� Shoalhaven City Council – Bomaderry Zieria recovery

�� Southern Cross University – Maximising environmental 
outcomes of coastal infrastructure upgrades

�� Southern Sydney Regional Organisation of Councils 
(SSROC) – ROCovering organics – Organics recovery 
across the SSROC region

�� SUEZ Recycling & Recovery Australia – Lucas Heights 
organics resource recovery facility expansion

�� Take 3 Inc. – Take 3 Surf Life Saving Clubs Initiative – 
Sand Soldiers program

�� Tamworth Regional Council – Tamworth Regional Council 
organics recycling facility (ORF)

�� TIC (Mattress) Recycling Pty Ltd – Automated and 
advanced end-of-life mattress recycling for NSW

�� Tox Free Australia Pty Ltd – NSW next generation 
e-waste recycling facility

�� Tweed Shire Council – Tweed organics processing facility

�� Tweed Shire Council – Rous River riparian restoration

�� Walgett Shire Council – Walgett Shire Council landfill 
improvement project

�� WetlandCare Australia Pty Ltd – Restoring connected 
protected koala habitat and wetland – Cudgen Lake

�� Wilsons Creek Huonbrook Landcare Inc. – Wilsons 
Creek: Huonbrook strategic coral tree management

�� Wollongong City Council – Wollongong community drop-
off and recycling centre

Structure and management of the Trust
The Trust is guided by the governance structures outlined 
in the Environmental Trust Act. It is comprised of three 
parts: Trust members, Trust committees and Trust staff 
who are housed within OEH. The Trust funds the costs of 
administering its grant programs, including staff salaries, 
while OEH provides all support services for the Trust such 
as information technology, finance and human resources.

The Grants Branch within the Strategy and Performance 
Division of OEH is responsible for day-to-day management 
of the Trust’s programs and activities. The major functions of 
the unit are:

�� researching, designing and implementing new programs 
for the Trust

�� promoting and managing the Trust’s grant programs

�� developing and managing governance arrangements for 
programs

�� providing technical and other assistance to grantees

�� coordinating assessments by the Trust’s technical 
committees

�� servicing Trust meetings, technical committees and 
subcommittees to facilitate good decision-making

�� negotiating grants and agreements, project plans and 
making payments

�� monitoring and acquitting funded projects

�� disseminating and promoting successful Trust-funded 
projects

�� managing pollution clean-up programs

�� reviewing and evaluating the Trust’s programs and 
procedures.
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Grants administration
All Trust grants include conditions that must be met, 
covering matters such as project timetables, payment 
schedules, progress and final project reports, financial 
reports, project variations and other administrative 
requirements. Except where a project is of a short duration 
or small amount, the Trust pays the grants in instalments in 
advance or through milestone payments.

The Trust’s technical review committee representatives 
and independent reviewers assess and recommend grant 
projects and review project progress and final reports. 
This process keeps the Trust progressively informed about 
the quality of the work and the outcomes of each project. 
Where appropriate, a copy of the final report is placed in the 
OEH Library.

Trust subcommittees comprised of technical experts in 
the relevant field oversee all major programs. They provide 
input into the development of program business plans, 
monitor program implementation and progress, and provide 
ongoing advice to the Trust. Some subcommittees oversee 
a number of projects.

As an added level of governance for the infrastructure 
programs of the Waste Less, Recycle More initiative, 
applicants must provide a cost–benefit analysis for their 
projects, based on NSW Treasury’s NSW Government 
Guidelines for Economic Appraisal. These analyses are 
reviewed by independent experts who report their findings 
to the technical review committee to assist with the overall 
assessment of proposals. A Probity Auditor has also been 
appointed to review all program documentation and attend 
all technical review committee meetings as an observer to 
ensure the decision-making process is in accord with the 
highest standards of probity and integrity.

Organisational performance
Trust support staff are employed within OEH and 
are subject to the administration and organisational 
performance programs of that office. These include 
the disability inclusion action plan, workforce diversity, 
multicultural policies and services program, work health 
and safety, etc. Further information on these policies and 
other organisational issues is available in the Office of 
Environment and Heritage Annual Report 2017–18.

Assets
As it uses the resources of OEH, the Trust does not have 
any physical assets that require risk management or 
associated insurance activities.

Risk management and insurance
The Trust’s risk management includes independent grant 
assessment processes, formal authorisation and payment 
procedures under explicit delegated authority, written grant 
agreements and approved grantee business plans. A clause 
in grant agreements indemnifies the Trust, and there are 
processes for tracking the progress of grants and payments 
of grants, along with a procedures manual and regular 
audits of procedures.

Further information on risk management policies and 
guidelines, fraud and corruption control strategies and the 
internal audit program applicable to the Trust can also be 
found in the OEH Annual Report 2017–18.

OEH has a range of insurances with the NSW Treasury 
Managed Fund. This coverage extends to the operations of 
the Trust.

Digital information attestation
The NSW Government Digital Information Security Policy 
requires each department and statutory body annually 
to attest to the adequacy of its digital information and 
information systems security. 
The information systems used by the Trust and all digital 
information held by the Trust is managed by OEH. For a 
copy of the Digital Information Attestation Statement, refer 
to the OEH Annual Report 2017–18.

Monitoring, evaluation and reporting
The Trust’s Monitoring, Evaluation and Reporting (MER) 
Program guides grantees in delivering projects and enables 
the Trust to gauge the environmental outcomes achieved. 
The MER Program helps grantees to track their progress 
against their objectives, to measure and report on their 
achievements and to increase the likelihood of success. This 
ongoing assessment allows grantees to learn from their 
experiences and adaptively manage their project. The MER 
system is continually improved and streamlined for the 
benefit of Trust administration and grantees.

The Program is reinforced by a MER Officer who liaises 
directly with grantees offering guidance and suggestions 
on their respective project plans and projections for some 
programs. Webinars have continued to be offered as part of 
this support.

Grantees report on key performance indicators and 
measurable environmental outcomes tailored to each 
program. The Trust uses this information to assess progress 
towards environmental goals on a project, program and 
statewide basis. Some of the results achieved to date are 
included under the relevant program headings in this report. 
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External reviews
The Trust is subject to a range of independent audits, 
including annual review of its financial statements by the 
Audit Office of New South Wales. To ensure funding is 
achieving the best possible results for the environment, the 
Trust implements a five-year evaluation plan for each of its 
competitive grant programs, and independently evaluates 
each major project grant. 

External reviews were conducted this year for the following 
contestable grant programs:

Environmental Education and Eco Schools
The Trust engaged the University of Technology Sydney 
(UTS), through its Institute for Public Policy and Governance 
and its Institute for Sustainable Futures, to evaluate the 
performance of the Environmental Education and Eco 
Schools programs from 2010 to 2016. The programs were 
found to be unique, well-run and in high demand. The 
programs were fully subscribed and found to deliver good 
outcomes, however options for improvements in future 
years will be presented to the Trust in 2018–19. 

Restoration and Rehabilitation 
This evaluation by the NSW Natural Resources Commission 
(NRC) assessed how well the program performed between 
2010 and 2015 in encouraging and enabling community and 
government organisations to protect, conserve and restore 
the natural environment to achieve long-term environmental 
outcomes. 

Overall, the evaluation found the program is well-run, 
achieves value for money and addresses an apparent 
market gap both in the projects it funds and through the 
groups and organisations funded. However, the NRC found 
the current objectives to be too broad and suggested that 
the data collected could be improved to better measure and 
report on environmental outcomes. 

The Trust provided an administrative response to the review 
and has implemented key recommended changes in the 
2017–18 funding round. 

External reviews were also completed for the Land 
Acquisition and Contaminated Land Management 
Programs. More details can be found in the relevant 
sections of this report.
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Internal Audit and Risk Management Statement
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Membership of the NSW Environmental Trust

As defined in section 6 of the Environmental Trust Act,  
the Trust consists of five members. They are:

�� Minister for the Environment (as Chairperson)

�� Secretary of NSW Treasury

�� Chief Executive of Office of Environment and Heritage

�� a person appointed by the Minister from a panel of three 
nominated by the Nature Conservation Council of NSW

�� a person appointed by the Minister from a panel of three 
nominated by Local Government NSW.

The Trust met twice in 2017–18.

Members of the Trust and meeting attendance

Member Position
Meetings attended by 

member or deputy
Meetings eligible  

to attend

The Hon. Gabrielle Upton MP (Chairperson) Minister for the Environment  
(from 30 January 2017)

2 2

Ms Jenny Merkley Director, Transport, Planning and Environment, 
NSW Treasury

(Permanent Deputy for Secretary of NSW 
Treasury) (from 28 November 2016)

2 2

Mr Anthony Lean (Trust Secretary) Chief Executive, Office of 
Environment and Heritage (from 20 March 2017)

2 2

Professor Donald White Chairperson Nature Conservation Council of NSW 
(1 December 2016 to 14 November 2019)

2 2

Councillor Keith Rhoades President Local Government NSW 
(17 December 2014 to 14 December 2017)

0 1

Deputy:  
Ms Susy Cenedese

Representing Local Government NSW 1 1

A number of decisions were also made out of session.
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Membership of Trust Subcommittees

Trust subcommittees provide input into the development 
of program business plans in consultation with external 
stakeholders, oversee program governance arrangements 
and provide ongoing advice to the Trust. During 2017–18 
there were seven subcommittees in operation under section 
9 of the Environmental Trust Act to assist the Trust with the 
management of its grant programs. The membership of 
each subcommittee that met in 2017–18 follows.

Biodiversity and Green Corridors 
Subcommittee

Mr Peter Dixon (Acting Chairperson)
Director Grants, NSW Environmental Trust

Ms Deborah Bate
Manager, Land Services, Central West Local Land Services

Ms Susy Cenedese
Strategy Manager, Environment, Local Government NSW

Ms Karen Eardley
Project Officer, Reserve Establishment, NPWS, OEH

Mr Tim Low
Project Officer, Invasive Species Council

Dr Peter Mitchell
Community representative

Dr Ross Peacock
Code Review Coordinator, Operations, NSW Rural Fire 
Service

Ms Bronwyn Petrie
Representing NSW Farmers

Dr Peter Turner (delegate Ms Hillary Cherry)
Senior Weeds Officer, NPWS, OEH

Community and Sustainability 
Subcommittee

Dr Tony Wilkins (Chairperson)
Principal, AP Wilkins and Associates

Ms Susy Cenedese
Strategy Manager, Environment, Local Government NSW

Ms Rebecca Simpson 
Senior Team Leader, Major Projects, NSW Environmental 
Trust

Ms Madelaine Townsend
Director, Conservation Volunteers Australia

Dr Greg Walkerden
Lecturer, Environmental Management, Macquarie University

Professor Don White
Chairperson, Nature Conservation Council of NSW

Environmental Hazards Subcommittee

Professor Cameron Hazlehurst (Chairperson)
Foundation Principal, The Ethicos Group

Mr Jeff Angel
Executive Director, Total Environment Centre

Ms Phillippa Biswell
Environmental Project Officer, Sutherland Shire Council

Ms Eleanor Carswell
Community representative

Mr Ian Gregson
Principal Environmental Consultant, GHD

Ms Nicole Lawler
Health Safety & Environment Manager, Boral Limited

Dr Alex Pulkownik 
School of Life Sciences, University of Technology Sydney

Ms Rebecca Simpson 
Senior Team Leader, Major Projects,  
NSW Environmental Trust

Flying-fox Netting Subsidy Program 
Subcommittee

Mr Derek Rutherford (alternate Chairperson) 
Director Conservation Programs, OEH

Mr Glenn Fahey 
Representing NSW Farmers Association

Mr Leigh James
Senior Land Services Officer (Horticulture),  
Local Land Services

Mr Myles Parker 
Leader Horticulture Development,  
NSW Department of Primary Industries

Mr Evan Quartermain (alternate Ms Nancy Pallin)
Senior Program Manager, Humane Society International

Ms Rebecca Simpson
Senior Team Leader, Major Projects,  
NSW Environmental Trust



74   NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2017–18

Nature Based Tourism Subcommittee

Ms Rebecca Simpson (Acting Chairperson) 
Senior Team Leader, Major Projects,  
NSW Environmental Trust

Ms Samantha Crosby
Education and Community Programs Coordinator,  
Centennial Parklands

Ms Julie Hegarty (alternate)
Former Chair, NPWS Advisory Council

Mr Rod Hillman
Chief Executive, Ecotourism Australia

Ms Sonia McIvor
Director, Marketing, Destination NSW

Offsets Subcommittee

Ms Alex Graham (alternate Chairperson) 
Director Greater Sydney, OEH

Mr Paul Bennett
Manager Land Services, Greater Sydney Local Land Services

Mr Michael Dyson
Associate Director, Knight Frank Valuations

Mr Minh Nguyen
Principal Financial Analyst, Planning and Environment,  
NSW Treasury

Mr Adam Littman (alternate) 
Principal Planning Officer – District Planning, Department of 
Planning and Environment

Ms Rebecca Simpson 
Senior Team Leader, Major Projects, NSW Environmental 
Trust

Ms Rachel Walmsley
Policy and Law Reform Director, Environmental Defenders 
Office NSW

South Coast Forests Subcommittee

Mr Peter Dixon (Chairperson)
Director Grants, NSW Environmental Trust

Ms Sally Bayley
Industry representative

Mr Rob McKinnon (alternate)
Senior Project Officer, Park Operations, OEH

Mr Michael Hood
Director Forestry, EPA

Mr Mladen Kovac
Director Economics, OEH

Ms Maria Matthes
Ecological consultant
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Membership of Trust Technical Review Committees

The Trust has established several technical review 
committees under section 9 of the Environmental Trust 
Act. These committees assess and recommend grant 
applications, provide guidance in program implementation 
and may review progress and final reports. The membership 
of each committee that met during 2017–18 is set out below.

Eco Schools Program

Mark Caddey (Chairperson) 
Senior Project Officer Sustainable Communities, OEH

Ms Brigitte Herrmann
Support Teacher Transition, NSW Department of Education 

Ms Sue Martin
Treasurer and Public Officer
Australian Association for Environmental Education

Mr Brian Williams
Procurement Manager, Catholic Education Office 

Ms Lisa Taylor
Education Consultant 

Ms Tristen Cannell
Teacher, NSW Department of Education 

Environmental Education Program

Ms Roz Hall (Independent Chairperson)

Ms Karen Paroissien
Senior Programs Officer, Conservation Programs, OEH

Ms Rebecca Raap
Principal Consultant, RfR Consulting

Ms Jane Smith
Executive Officer, Community Environment Network

Ms Erika Van Schellebeck (Community Program)
Sustainability Officer, Coffs Harbour City Council

Ms Sarah Warner (Government Program)
Environmental Planner, Lake Macquarie City Council

Environmental Research Program

Dr Klaus Koop (Independent Chairperson)

Dr Graeme Batley
Chief Research Scientist, Centre for Environmental 
Contaminants Research, CSIRO Land and Water

Dr Brent Jacobs
Research Director, Natural Resources & Environment 
Cluster, Institute for Sustainable Futures, University of 
Technology Sydney

Professor Deirdre Lemerle
Director, Graham Centre for Agricultural Innovation,  
Charles Sturt University

Dr Derek Van Dyk
Ex-Director, Strategic Research Partnerships and Pre-Award, 
Macquarie University 

Dr Greg Summerell
Director, Ecosystem Management Science, OEH

Restoration and Rehabilitation (Community) 
Program

Ms Maria Woods (Independent Chairperson)

Mr James Dawson 
Senior Team Leader, Ecosystems and Threatened Species – 
Illawarra, OEH

Ms Kris Hely
Coffs Coast Bush Regeneration Company

Mr Keith Hyde
State Management Committee, Landcare NSW

Ms Mary-Lou Lewis
Committee Member, Australian Association of Bush 
Regenerators

Mr Charles Lucas 
Senior Land Services Officer, Natural Resources 
Management, Riverina Local Land Services 

Mr Justin Sauvage
Stormwater Engineer, Sutherland Shire Council 

Restoration and Rehabilitation 
(Government) Program

Ms Maria Woods (Independent Chairperson)

Ms Louise Brodie
Committee Member, Australian Association of Bush 
Regenerators

Mr James Dawson
Senior Team Leader, Ecosystems and Threatened Species – 
Illawarra, OEH

Mr Roger Lembit
President, National Parks Association of NSW

Mr Charles Lucas
Senior Land Services Officer, Natural Resource 
Management, Riverina Local Land Services 

Ms Kirsty McIntyre
Senior Policy Officer, Natural Resource Management,  
Local Government NSW

Mr Chris Scott
Treasurer, Landcare NSW

Mr Marc Worner
Representing the Australian Institute of Landscape 
Designers and Managers
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Waste Less, Recycle More  
grant programs

Organics Collections
(formerly known as Local Government Organics Collection 
Systems)

Mr John Street (Chairperson)
Chairperson, Hawkesbury Environment Network, 
representing the Nature Conservation Council of NSW

Mr Justin Lang
Program Manager Local Government, Green Industries SA

Mr Ken Wilson
Waste & Sustainability Coordinator, Clarence Valley Council

Organics Infrastructure (Large and Small) 

Mr John Street (Chairperson)
Chairperson, Hawkesbury Environment Network 
representing the Nature Conservation Council of NSW

Mr Brock Baker
Technical expert in waste and recycling sector

Mr Mark Gorta
Technical expert in waste and recycling sector

Mr Lachlan Jeffries
Managing Director, Jeffries Group

Mr James Turnell
Program Leader, Waste Management,  
Armidale Regional Council

Mr Michael Wood
Director, EnviroMix

Landfill Consolidation and Environmental 
Improvements

Mr Keith Baxter (Chairperson)
Manager, Policy, Office of Local Government

Ms Deanne Eaten
Mechanical and Electrical Engineer, Clarence Valley Council

Dr Don Ewart
Volunteer representative on Australian Standards,  
also a Research Scientist 

Mr Peter Lonery
Technical Officer, Property NSW

Mrs Megan Vallas
Team Leader, Compliance Strategy and Support, EPA 
Victoria

Major Resource Recovery Infrastructure

Mr Mark Rawson (Chairperson)
Managing Director and Principal Consultant, Rawtec Pty Ltd

Mr Sean O’Malley 
Research and Technical Manager, Planet Ark Victoria

Mr Phil Klepzig
Manager Commercial Services, Lismore City Council

Ms Amanda Neilson
Manager, Waste and Resource Recovery Infrastructure, 
Sustainability Victoria

Improved Systems for Household Problem 
Wastes – CRC

Mr David Coleman (Chairperson)
Consultant and Member for Local Government 
Professionals Australia, NSW

Mr Ryan Collins
Recycling Programs Manager, Planet Ark NSW

Mr Spyro Kalos
Manager Recycling Mobile Muster, Australian Mobile 
Telecommunications Association

Ms Jo Imming
Coordinator, National Toxics Network

Ms Sujata Doctor
Project Advisor, Resource Recovery Infrastructure, 
Sustainability Victoria
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Contact Information

Public access
Further information on the NSW Environmental Trust can be 
obtained by contacting:

Grants Administrator 
PO Box 644 
PARRAMATTA NSW 2124 
Telephone (02) 8837 6093 
Email: info@environmentaltrust.nsw.gov.au

Information on the Trust’s grant programs is also available on 
the Trust’s website at environmentaltrust.nsw.gov.au.

Offices
The Trust office is located at:

Level 4, 10 Valentine Avenue 
Parramatta NSW 2150

The office is open from 9am to 5pm Monday to Friday.

Publications
The following publications are available from the Trust:

�� guidelines and grant application forms for all grant 
programs

�� NSW Environmental Trust annual reports from  
2001–2002 to 2017–18.

This annual report is available to download from the Trust’s 
website: Environmental Trust Annual Report.

A range of case studies highlighting successfully completed 
grant projects is available from the Trust’s dissemination 
webpage: Environmental Trust Case Studies.

Public access to government information 
The NSW Government’s Government Information (Public 
Access) Act 2009 concerns rights to public information and 
relates to personal and non-personal information held by 
government.

There are four ways in which the Trust makes its information 
available:

�� through mandatory release (such as policies and 
guidelines available on the Trust’s website) 

�� proactive release, which requires the Trust to release 
as much government information as possible in 
an appropriate format free-of-charge (or at lowest 
reasonable cost) 

�� through informal requests from members of the public 

�� through a formal application process, requesting specific 
information under the Government Information (Public 
Access) Act. This is the last resort if a member of the 
public hasn’t been able to get information in any other 
way. 

Government agencies are required, under section 20 
of the Government Information (Public Access) Act, to 
make available an information guide outlining the agency’s 
structure and functions, the type of information held by 
the agency, and how members of the public can access 
information through that agency. The Trust’s operations 
are covered in OEH Information Guide: the Government 
Information (Public Access) Act available on the OEH 
website.

The Trust regularly and proactively releases information 
through its website. This includes information relating to 
the management of grant programs, provision of grant 
applications, applicant guidelines and other supporting 
documents, as well as publishing lists of successful 
grantees for each program. The Trust endeavours to release 
this information as soon as possible once it is available. The 
Trust publishes other information on an intermittent basis, 
such as case studies of successful grant projects.

All Government Information (Public Access) requests relating 
to the Trust are reported by OEH in its annual report. 

http://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/grants/envtrust.htm
http://environmentaltrust.nsw.gov.au
http://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/grants/trustreport.htm
http://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/grants/casestudies.htm
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/maintop/view/inforce/act+52+2009+cd+0+N
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/maintop/view/inforce/act+52+2009+cd+0+N
http://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/whoweare/130378oehinfogd.htm
http://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/whoweare/130378oehinfogd.htm
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Abbreviations

BCT NSW Biodiversity Conservation Trust

BMAD bell miner associated dieback

CRC community recycling centre

CSIRO Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial 
 Research Organisation

DPI Department of Primary Industries

EIC Environment and Invasives Committee

EPA NSW Environment Protection Authority

FOGO food organics and garden organics

GER Great Eastern Ranges

LGA local government area

LLS Local Land Services

MER monitoring, evaluation and reporting

MUD multi-unit dwelling

MWOO mixed waste organic outputs

NGO non-government organisation

NPWS NSW National Parks and Wildlife Service

NRC Natural Resources Commission

NSW New South Wales

OEH Office of Environment and Heritage

POP Protecting our Places

RAM rapid assessment method

RFS Rural Fire Service

SCU Southern Cross University

SMEs small and medium-sized enterprises

SoS Saving our Species

TSR travelling stock reserve

UNSW University of New South Wales

UTS University of Technology Sydney

WLRM Waste Less, Recycle More
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Photographs

Page Title and source

5 Male gang-gang cockatoo Callocephalon fimbriatum. Photo: Mike Roache/OEH

7 Wetland habitat bordering Gingham Waterhole. Photo: George Barrott-Brown/NPWS

22 Training in use of the EcoRoadside app. Photo: Kathy Godfrey/Hawkesbury River County Council

23 New stainless steel handrails in Diamond Cave, Jenolan Caves. Photo: Katie Robinson/OEH

39 Funded through the Organics Infrastructure grants program, Aerosorb equipment screens, shreds and 
loads kerbside organic waste to produce a high-quality commercial recycled organic product. Photo: 
Rosanna Luca/OEH

42 A representative of Toxfree explains NSW’s next generation e-waste recycling facility funded through the 
Major Resource Recovery Infrastructure grants program. All recovered resources are sold for reuse.  
Photo: Rosanna Luca/OEH

47 Scratching on a favoured koala habitat tree on the Cudgera Creek NR property.  
Photo: George Barrott-Brown/NPWS

65 Imperial Cave in the Jenolan Cave system. Photo: Katie Robinson/OEH
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